
City of Capitola Page 1 Updated 3/30/2018 11:12 AM  

 

AGENDA 

CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION 
Thursday, April 5, 2018 – 7:00 PM 

 Chairperson Sam Storey 

 Commissioners Linda Smith 

  Ed Newman 

  TJ Welch 

  Susan Westman 

1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

2. NEW BUSINESS 

3. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda 

B. Public Comments 

Short communications from the public concerning matters not on the Agenda.  
All speakers are requested to print their name on the sign-in sheet located at the podium so that their 
name may be accurately recorded in the Minutes. 

C. Commission Comments 

D. Staff Comments 

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

A. Approval of draft March 1, 2018, Planning Commission minutes 

1. Planning Commission - Regular Meeting - Mar 1, 2018 7:00 PM 
 

5. CONSENT CALENDAR 

All matters listed under “Consent Calendar” are considered by the Planning Commission to be routine 
and will be enacted by one motion in the form listed below.  There will be no separate discussion on these 
items prior to the time the Planning Commission votes on the action unless members of the public or the 
Planning Commission request specific items to be discussed for separate review.  Items pulled for 
separate discussion will be considered in the order listed on the Agenda. 

 
A. 110 Hollister Avenue #18-0085 APN: 036-144-10 

Design Permit to demolish an existing, one-story single-family residence and construct a 
new two-story single-family residence in the R-1 Single-Family Zoning District.   
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit that is 
appealable to the California Coastal Commission.  
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Lisa and Mark Garrigues 
Representative: Clark E Shultes 
 

 



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA – April 5, 2018 2 
 

6. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

Public Hearings are intended to provide an opportunity for public discussion of each item listed as a 
Public Hearing.  The following procedure is as follows:  1) Staff Presentation; 2) Public Discussion; 3) 
Planning Commission Comments; 4) Close public portion of the Hearing; 5) Planning Commission 
Discussion; and 6) Decision. 

 
A. 1098 38th Avenue #18-0052 APN: 034-172-01 

Fence exception to permit a six-foot high fence in the front yard along the side property line 
and an eight-foot high solid fence on the side property line extending to the rear property 
line. This project is located in the RM-M (Multi-Family Medium Density) zoning district. 
This project is in the Coastal Zone and does not require a Coastal Development Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Central California Alliance for Health 

 
B. 1725 48th Avenue #17-0403 APN: 034-022-41 

Design Permit and Conditional Use Permit to convert an existing historic barn into an 
Accessory Dwelling Unit and build a new single car garage in the R-1 (Single-Family 
Residential) zoning district.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit that is not 
appealable to the California Coastal Commission. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Michael and Elizabeth Adams 
Representative: Dennis Norton Filed: 10/10/17 

 
C. 4201 Capitola Road #17-0441 APN: 034-121-36 & 37 

Tentative Map for a three-lot subdivision, Design Permit for three new single-
family homes, Variance request to allow encroachments into side yard setbacks, 
and demolition of two existing structures located at 4201 Capitola Road within 
the CN (Neighborhood Commercial) zoning district. 
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit 
which is not appealable to the California Coastal Commission after all possible 
appeals are exhausted through the City. 
Property Owner: Magnolia Tree Investments 
Representative: Matthew Thompson, Architect.  Filed: 11.09.2017  

 

7. DIRECTOR'S REPORT 

8. COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS 

9. ADJOURNMENT 

 

 

 

 

 

 



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA – April 5, 2018 3 
 
APPEALS:  The following decisions of the Planning Commission can be appealed to the City Council 

within the (10) calendar days following the date of the Commission action:  Conditional Use Permit, 

Variance, and Coastal Permit.  The decision of the Planning Commission pertaining to an Architectural 

and Site Review Design Permit can be appealed to the City Council within the (10) working days following 

the date of the Commission action.  If the tenth day falls on a weekend or holiday, the appeal period is 

extended to the next business day. 
 

All appeals must be in writing, setting forth the nature of the action and the basis upon which the action is 

considered to be in error, and addressed to the City Council in care of the City Clerk.  An appeal must be 

accompanied by a five hundred dollar ($500) filing fee, unless the item involves a Coastal Permit that is 

appealable to the Coastal Commission, in which case there is no fee.  If you challenge a decision of the 

Planning Commission in court, you may be limited to raising only those issues you or someone else 

raised at the public hearing described in this agenda, or in written correspondence delivered to the City 

at, or prior to, the public hearing. 
 

Notice regarding Planning Commission meetings:  The Planning Commission meets regularly on the 

1st Thursday of each month at 7 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 420 Capitola Avenue, 

Capitola. 
 

Agenda and Agenda Packet Materials:  The Planning Commission Agenda and complete Agenda 

Packet are available on the Internet at the City's website:  www.cityofcapitola.org.  Agendas are also 

available at the Capitola Branch Library, 2005 Wharf Road, Capitola, on the Monday prior to the Thursday 

meeting.  Need more information?  Contact the Community Development Department at (831) 475-7300. 
 

Agenda Materials Distributed after Distribution of the Agenda Packet:  Materials that are a public 

record under Government Code § 54957.5(A) and that relate to an agenda item of a regular meeting of 

the Planning Commission that are distributed to a majority of all the members of the Planning 

Commission more than 72 hours prior to that meeting shall be available for public inspection at City Hall 

located at 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, during normal business hours. 
 

Americans with Disabilities Act:  Disability-related aids or services are available to enable persons with 

a disability to participate in this meeting consistent with the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 

1990.  Assisted listening devices are available for individuals with hearing impairments at the meeting in 

the City Council Chambers.  Should you require special accommodations to participate in the meeting 

due to a disability, please contact the Community Development Department at least 24 hours in advance 

of the meeting at (831) 475-7300.  In an effort to accommodate individuals with environmental 

sensitivities, attendees are requested to refrain from wearing perfumes and other scented products. 
 

Televised Meetings:  Planning Commission meetings are cablecast "Live" on Charter Communications 

Cable TV Channel 8 and are recorded to be replayed on the following Monday and Friday at 1:00 p.m. on 

Charter Channel 71 and Comcast Channel 25.  Meetings can also be viewed from the City's website:  

www.cityofcapitola.org. 

http://www.cityofcapitola.org/
http://www.cityofcapitola.org/


City of Capitola Page 1 Updated 3/2/2018 9:03 AM  

DRAFT FINAL MINUTES 
CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

THURSDAY, MARCH 1, 2018 
7 P.M. – CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

 

 
 

1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Commissioner Smith: Present; Commissioner Welch: Present; Chairperson Storey: Present; 
Commissioner Newman: arrived at 7:05 p.m. Commissioner Westman was absent [excused]. 

2. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Commission Roster Update 

i. Traffic & Parking Commission 

Director Grunow reported that the City is updating the composition of many of its committees to 
include a student member. As part of that process, it was determined it would be a good time to 
confirm interest in continuing to have a Planning Commissioner participate on the Traffic and 
Parking Commission, and report back to the City Council.  
 
Commissioner Welch confirmed that he is still willing to serve, if needed. Commissioner Smith 
asked about receiving feedback from the Traffic and Parking Commission before making a 
recommendation to the City Council. She thanked Commissioner Welch for his participation and 
noted that she would also be willing to serve if no other representative was available.  
 
Parking and Traffic Commission Member Carin Hanna spoke in support of having the expertise 
of a Planning Commissioner participate on the Traffic and Parking Commission and noted that 
the Commission is now only meeting quarterly. 
 
Chairperson Storey suggested that any discussion regarding the makeup of the commission 
should first go to them to discuss the options for the makeup of the commission.  
Director Grunow will report to City Council that there is no interest in separating the Planning 
Commission representative from the Traffic and Parking Commission. 
 

RESULT: RECEIVED REPORT AND PROVIDED DIRECTION  

 

3. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda 

Director Grunow reported that an Errata sheet was added to item 6.A. 

B. Public Comments - None 

C. Commission Comments 

Commissioner Newman has a communication that he will save to the end of the meeting. 
 

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 4

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
M

ar
 1

, 2
01

8 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
d

ra
ft

 M
ar

ch
 1

, 2
01

8,
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 m

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – March 1, 2018 2 
 

Commissioner Smith invited everyone to attend a Grand Opening/Book Sale hosted by the 
Friends of the Santa Cruz Public Libraries at a storefront book sale at the Capitola Mall, next 
to Starbucks, just inside the mall’s main entrance on Saturday, March 3, from 10 a.m. to 4 
p.m. Proceeds benefit the Capitola Branch Library. 
 
Chairperson Storey noted that a new art railing will be installed fairly soon in front of the 
Bella Roma restaurant and the neighboring office space on Capitola Avenue. 

D. Staff Comments - None 

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 
1. Planning Commission - Regular Meeting - Jan 18, 2018 7:00 PM 

RESULT: ACCEPTED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Edward Newman, Commissioner 

SECONDER: TJ Welch, Commissioner 

AYES: Smith, Newman, Welch, Storey 

EXCUSED: Westman 

 
2. Planning Commission - Regular Meeting - Feb 1, 2018 7:00 PM 

 

RESULT: ACCEPTED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: TJ Welch, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Sam Storey, Chairperson 

AYES: Smith, Newman, Welch, Storey 

EXCUSED: Westman 

 

5. CONSENT CALENDAR 

A. 409 Pilgrim Drive 17-0501 035-101-11 
Design Permit for a single-family home which includes an attached secondary 
dwelling unit located at 409 Pilgrim Drive within the R-1 (Single-Family) zoning 
district.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit 
that is not appealable. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: John & Tricia Slater 
Representative: Dennis Norton.  Filed: 12-15-2017 
 

Director Grunow recused himself and left the dais due to the applicant being his landlord. 
 
Commissioner Smith requested adding condition limiting short term rental for 30 days and 
the property owner indicated that this condition was acceptable. 
 

MOTION: Approve the Design Permit and Coastal Development Permit with the 
amended conditions and findings: 

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 5

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
M

ar
 1

, 2
01

8 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
d

ra
ft

 M
ar

ch
 1

, 2
01

8,
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 m

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – March 1, 2018 3 
 

  

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1. The project approval consists of construction of a 3,121 square-foot single-family home 

with an attached accessory dwelling unit. With the increased allowance for the 
accessory dwelling unit, the maximum Floor Area Ratio for the 5,271 square foot 
property is 60% (3,163 square feet). The total FAR of the project is 59% with a total of 
3,121 square feet, compliant with the maximum FAR within the zone. The proposed 
project is approved as indicated on the final plans reviewed and approved by the 
Planning Commission on March 1, 2018, except as modified through conditions imposed 
by the Planning Commission during the hearing. 
 

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or 
modifications to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be 
consistent with the plans approved by the Planning Commission.  All construction and 
site improvements shall be completed according to the approved plans 
 

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be 
printed in full on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  
 

4. At time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail SMP STRM 
shall be printed in full and incorporated as a sheet into the construction plans.  All 
construction shall be done in accordance with the Public Works Standard Detail BMP 
STRM.   

 
5. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically 

requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any 
significant changes to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require 
Planning Commission approval.   
 

6. Prior to issuance of building permit, a final landscape plan shall be submitted and 
approved by the Community Development Department.  Landscape plans shall reflect 
the Planning Commission approval and shall identify type, size, and location of species 
and details of irrigation systems.   

 
7. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #17-0501 

shall be paid in full. 
 

8. Prior to issuance of building permit, Affordable housing in-lieu fees shall be paid as 
required to assure compliance with the City of Capitola Affordable (Inclusionary) Housing 
Ordinance.   
 

9. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan 
approval by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel 
Creek Water District, and Central Fire Protection District.   
 

10. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion 
control plan, shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works.  The plans 
shall be in compliance with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code 
Chapter 13.16 Storm Water Pollution Prevention and Protection. 
 

11. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater 
management plan to the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements 

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 6

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
M

ar
 1

, 2
01

8 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
d

ra
ft

 M
ar

ch
 1

, 2
01

8,
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 m

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – March 1, 2018 4 
 

all applicable Post Construction Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard 
Details, including all standards relating to low impact development (LID). 
 

12. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading 
official to verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan.  
 

13. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired 
by the contractor performing the work.  No material or equipment storage may be placed 
in the road right-of-way. 
 

14. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise 
curfew, except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City.  
Construction noise shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty 
a.m. on weekdays. Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the 
exception of Saturday work between nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work 
approved by the building official. §9.12.010B 
 

15. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches, curb, gutter, or 
sidewalk shall be replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction 
of the Public Works Department.  All replaced driveway approaches, curb, gutter or 
sidewalk shall meet current Accessibility Standards. 

 
16. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the applicant shall demonstrate 

compliance with the tree removal permit authorized by this permit for 2 trees to be 
removed from the property.  Replacement trees shall be planted at a 2:1 ratio. Required 
replacement trees shall be of the same size, species and planted on the site as shown 
on the approved plans. 

    
17. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of 

approval shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development 
Director.  Upon evidence of non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable 
municipal code provisions, the applicant shall remedy the non-compliance to the 
satisfaction of the Community Development Director or shall file an application for a 
permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure to remedy a non-
compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation. 
 

18. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance.   The applicant shall have 
an approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent 
permit expiration.   Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to 
expiration pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 
 

19. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the 
applicant to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the 
site on which the approval was granted. 
 

20. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be 
placed out of public view on non-collection days.  
 

21. Prior to issuance of building permits, the building plans must show that the existing 
overhead utility lines will be underground to the nearest utility pole.  
 

22. The floor area for secondary dwelling units shall not exceed 487 square feet as 

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 7

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
M

ar
 1

, 2
01

8 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
d

ra
ft

 M
ar

ch
 1

, 2
01

8,
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 m

in
u

te
s)

http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.246
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.190


CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – March 1, 2018 5 
 

approved by the Planning Commission.  
 

23. At time of submittal for building permit review, a water will serve letter for the second 
dwelling unit must be submitted to the City or a letter of understanding that the owner will 
not be granted occupancy until such letter is submitted to the City.  

 
24. Before obtaining a building permit for a secondary dwelling unit, the property owner shall 

file with the county recorder a declaration of restrictions containing a reference to the 
deed under which the property was acquired by the present owner and stating that: 

a. The secondary dwelling unit shall not be sold separately; 
b. The unit is restricted to the approved size of 487 square feet; 
c. The administrative review or the design permit, whichever applies, for the 

secondary dwelling unit shall be in effect only so long as the owner of record 
occupies either the main residence or the secondary dwelling unit; 

d. The above declarations are binding upon any successor in ownership of the 
property. Lack of compliance shall be cause for code enforcement and/or 
revoking the administrative review or the architecture and site review permit, 
whichever applies; 

e. The deed restrictions shall lapse upon removal of the secondary dwelling unit. 
f. The secondary dwelling unit shall not be rented for less than 30 days.  

 

FINDINGS 
1. The project, subject to the conditions imposed, secures the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the project. The proposed single-family 
residence and accessory dwelling unit comply with the development standards of the 
Single-Family District.  In addition, all of the ADU development requirements of Capitola 
Municipal Code §17.99.050 have been met.  The project secures the purpose of the 
Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan 
 

2. The project will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the application for the new single-family home 
with an attached accessory dwelling unit.  The design of the home with horizontal siding 
on the second story, stucco siding with stone wainscot on the first story, and the trellis 
above the front entry way will fit in nicely with the existing neighborhood. The project will 
maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood.   

 
3. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15303(b) of the California    

Environmental Quality Act and is subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 
Section 15303(b) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts a duplex or similar multi-family 
residential structure, totaling no more than four dwelling units. This project involves a 
new single-family residence with an attached accessory dwelling unit within the R-1 
(Single-Family Residential) zoning district. No adverse environmental impacts were 
discovered during review of the proposed project.  

 
COASTAL FINDINGS 
D. Findings Required.  

A. A coastal permit shall be granted only upon adoption of specific written factual 
findings supporting the conclusion that the proposed development conforms to 
the certified Local Coastal Program, including, but not limited to: 

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 8

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
M

ar
 1

, 2
01

8 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
d

ra
ft

 M
ar

ch
 1

, 2
01

8,
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 m

in
u

te
s)

http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.110
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.190
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.190
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.190
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.527
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.190
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.190


CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – March 1, 2018 6 
 

a. A statement of the individual and cumulative burdens imposed on public access and 
recreation opportunities based on applicable factors identified pursuant to 
subsection (D)(2) of this section. The type of affected public access and recreation 
opportunities shall be clearly described; 

b. An analysis based on applicable factors identified in subsection (D)(2) of this 
section of the necessity for requiring public access conditions to find the project 
consistent with the public access provisions of the Coastal Act; 

c. A description of the legitimate governmental interest furthered by any access 
conditioned required; 

d. An explanation of how imposition of an access dedication requirement alleviates the 
access burdens identified. 

 

• The proposed development conforms to the City’s certified Local Coastal Plan 
(LCP).  The specific, factual findings, as per CMC Section 17.46.090(D) are as 
follows: 

 
B. Require Project-Specific Findings. In determining any requirement for public 

access, including the type of access and character of use, the city shall evaluate 
and document in written findings the factors identified in subsections (D)(2)(a) 
through (e), to the extent applicable. The findings shall explain the basis for the 
conclusions and decisions of the city and shall be supported by substantial 
evidence in the record. If an access dedication is required as a condition of 
approval, the findings shall explain how the adverse effects which have been 
identified will be alleviated or mitigated by the dedication. As used in this section, 
“cumulative effect” means the effect of the individual project in combination with 
the effects of past projects, other current projects, and probable future projects, 
including development allowed under applicable planning and zoning. 
a. Project Effects on Demand for Access and Recreation. Identification of existing and 

open public access and coastal recreation areas and facilities in the regional and 
local vicinity of the development. Analysis of the project’s effects upon existing 
public access and recreation opportunities. Analysis of the project’s cumulative 
effects upon the use and capacity of the identified access and recreation 
opportunities, including public tidelands and beach resources, and upon the 
capacity of major coastal roads from subdivision, intensification or cumulative 
buildout. Projection for the anticipated demand and need for increased coastal 
access and recreation opportunities for the public. Analysis of the contribution of the 
project’s cumulative effects to any such projected increase. Description of the 
physical characteristics of the site and its proximity to the sea, tideland viewing 
points, upland recreation areas, and trail linkages to tidelands or recreation areas. 
Analysis of the importance and potential of the site, because of its location or other 
characteristics, for creating, preserving or enhancing public access to tidelands or 
public recreation opportunities; 

 

• The proposed project is located at 409 Pilgrim Drive.  The home is not located in 
an area with coastal access.  The home will not have an effect on public trails or 
beach access. 

 
b. Shoreline Processes. Description of the existing shoreline conditions, including 

beach profile, accessibility and usability of the beach, history of erosion or accretion, 
character and sources of sand, wave and sand movement, presence of shoreline 
protective structures, location of the line of mean high tide during the season when 
the beach is at its narrowest (generally during the late winter) and the proximity of 
that line to existing structures, and any other factors which substantially characterize 

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 9

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
M

ar
 1

, 2
01

8 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
d

ra
ft

 M
ar

ch
 1

, 2
01

8,
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 m

in
u

te
s)

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.650
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.650


CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – March 1, 2018 7 
 

or affect the shoreline processes at the site. Identification of anticipated changes to 
shoreline processes at the site. Identification of anticipated changes to shoreline 
processes and beach profile unrelated to the proposed development. Description 
and analysis of any reasonably likely changes, attributable to the primary and 
cumulative effects of the project, to: wave and sand movement affecting beaches in 
the vicinity of the project; the profile of the beach; the character, extent, accessibility 
and usability of the beach; and any other factors which characterize or affect 
beaches in the vicinity. Analysis of the effect of any identified changes of the 
project, alone or in combination with other anticipated changes, will have upon the 
ability of the public to use public tidelands and shoreline recreation areas; 

 

• The proposed project is located along Pilgrim Drive.  No portion of the project is 
located along the shoreline or beach. 

 
c. Historic Public Use. Evidence of use of the site by members of the general public for 

a continuous five-year period (such use may be seasonal). Evidence of the type and 
character of use made by the public (vertical, lateral, blufftop, etc., and for passive 
and/or active recreational use, etc.). Identification of any agency (or person) who has 
maintained and/or improved the area subject to historic public use and the nature of 
the maintenance performed and improvements made. Identification of the record 
owner of the area historically used by the public and any attempts by the owner to 
prohibit public use of the area, including the success or failure of those attempts. 
Description of the potential for adverse impact on public use of the area from the 
proposed development (including but not limited to, creation of physical or 
psychological impediments to public use); 

 

• There is not a history of public use on the subject lot. 
 

d. Physical Obstructions. Description of any physical aspects of the development 
which block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along the tidelands, public 
recreation areas, or other public coastal resources or to see the shoreline; 

 

• The proposed project is located on private property on Pilgrim Drive.  The project 
will not block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along the tidelands, 
public recreation areas, or views to the shoreline. 

 
e. Other Adverse Impacts on Access and Recreation. Description of the 

development’s physical proximity and relationship to the shoreline and any public 
recreation area. Analysis of the extent of which buildings, walls, signs, streets or other 
aspects of the development, individually or cumulatively, are likely to diminish the 
public’s use of tidelands or lands committed to public recreation. Description of any 
alteration of the aesthetic, visual or recreational value of public use areas, and of 
any diminution of the quality or amount of recreational use of public lands which may 
be attributable to the individual or cumulative effects of the development. 

 

• The proposed project is located on private property that will not impact access 
and recreation.  The project does not diminish the public’s use of tidelands or 
lands committed to public recreation nor alter the aesthetic, visual, or 
recreational value of public use areas. 

 
C. Required Findings for Public Access Exceptions. Any determination that one of 

the exceptions of subsection (F)(2) applies to a development shall be supported 

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 10

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
M

ar
 1

, 2
01

8 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
d

ra
ft

 M
ar

ch
 1

, 2
01

8,
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 m

in
u

te
s)

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.050
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.090
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.110
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.620
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690


CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – March 1, 2018 8 
 

by written findings of fact, analysis and conclusions which address all of the 
following: 
a. The type of access potentially applicable to the site involved (vertical, 

lateral, bluff top, etc.) and its location in relation to the fragile coastal resource to be 
protected, the agricultural use, the public safety concern, or the military facility which 
is the basis for the exception, as applicable; 

b. Unavailability of any mitigating measures to manage the type, character, intensity, 
hours, season or location of such use so that agricultural resources, fragile coastal 
resources, public safety, or military security, as applicable, are protected; 

c. Ability of the public, through another reasonable means, to reach the same area of 
public tidelands as would be made accessible by an accessway on the subject land. 

 

• The project is not requesting a Public Access Exception, therefore these findings 
do not apply. 

 
D. Findings for Management Plan Conditions. Written findings in support of a 

condition requiring a management plan for regulating the time and manner or 
character of public access use must address the following factors, as applicable: 
a. Identification and protection of specific habitat values including the reasons 

supporting the conclusions that such values must be protected by limiting the hours, 
seasons, or character of public use; 
 

• The project is located in a residential area without sensitive habitat areas. 
 

b. Topographic constraints of the development site; 
 

• The project is located on a flat lot. 
 

c. Recreational needs of the public; 
 

• The project does not impact the recreational needs of the public. 
 

d. Rights of privacy of the landowner which could not be mitigated by setting the 
project back from the access way or otherwise conditioning the development; 

e. The requirements of the possible accepting agency, if an offer of dedication is the 
mechanism for securing public access; 

f. Feasibility of adequate setbacks, fencing, landscaping, and other methods as part 
of a management plan to regulate public use. 

 
E. Project complies with public access requirements, including submittal of 

appropriate legal documents to ensure the right of public access whenever, and 
as, required by the certified land use plan and Section 17.46.010 (coastal access 
requirements); 

 

• No legal documents to ensure public access rights are required for the proposed 
project. 

 
F. Project complies with visitor-serving and recreational use policies; 
 

SEC. 30222 
The use of private lands suitable for visitor-serving commercial recreational 
facilities designed to enhance public opportunities for coastal recreation shall 

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 11

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
M

ar
 1

, 2
01

8 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
d

ra
ft

 M
ar

ch
 1

, 2
01

8,
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 m

in
u

te
s)

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.093
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.050
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/html/Capitola17/Capitola1746.html#17.46.010
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690


CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – March 1, 2018 9 
 

have priority over private residential, general industrial, or general commercial 
development, but not over agriculture or coastal-dependent industry. 

 

• The project involves a single-family home on a residential lot of record. 
 

SEC. 30223 
Upland areas necessary to support coastal recreational uses shall be reserved for 
such uses, where feasible. 

 

• The project involves a single-family home on a residential lot of record. 
 

c) Visitor-serving facilities that cannot be feasibly located in existing developed 
areas shall be located in existing isolated developments or at selected points of 
attraction for visitors. 

 

• The project involves a single-family home on a residential lot of record. 
 
G. Project complies with applicable standards and requirements for provision of 

public and private parking, pedestrian access, alternate means of transportation 
and/or traffic improvements; 

 

• The project involves the construction of a single-family home. The project complies 
with applicable standards and requirements for provision for parking, pedestrian 
access, alternate means of transportation, and/or traffic improvements. 

 
H. Review of project design, site plan, signing, lighting, landscaping, etc., by the 

city’s architectural and site review committee, and compliance with adopted 
design guidelines and standards, and review committee recommendations; 

 

• The project complies with the design guidelines and standards established by the 
Municipal Code. 

 
I. Project complies with LCP policies regarding protection of public landmarks, 

protection or provision of public views; and shall not block or detract from public 
views to and along Capitola’s shoreline; 

 

• The project will not negatively impact public landmarks and/or public views. The 
project will not block or detract from public views to and along Capitola’s shoreline. 

 
J. Demonstrated availability and adequacy of water and sewer services; 
 

• The project is located on a legal lot of record with available water and sewer 
services. 

 
K. Provisions of minimum water flow rates and fire response times; 
 

• The project is located several blocks from the Capitola fire department. Water is 
available at the location. 

 
L. Project complies with water and energy conservation standards; 
 

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 12

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
M

ar
 1

, 2
01

8 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
d

ra
ft

 M
ar

ch
 1

, 2
01

8,
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 m

in
u

te
s)

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.090


CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – March 1, 2018 10 
 

• The project is for a single-family home. The GHG emissions for the project are 
projected at less than significant impact. All water fixtures must comply with the low-
flow standards of the Soquel Creek Water District. 

 
M. Provision of park dedication, school impact, and other fees as may be required; 
 

• The project will be required to pay appropriate fees prior to building permit issuance. 
 
N. Project complies with coastal housing policies, and applicable ordinances 

including condominium conversion and mobile home ordinances; 
 

• The project does not involve a condo conversion or mobile homes. 
 
O. Project complies with natural resource, habitat, and archaeological protection 

policies; 
 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with established 
policies. 

 
P. Project complies with Monarch butterfly habitat protection policies; 
 

• The project is outside of any identified sensitive habitats, specifically areas where 
Monarch Butterflies have been encountered, identified and documented. 

 
Q. Project provides drainage and erosion and control measures to protect marine, 

stream, and wetland water quality from urban runoff and erosion; 
 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with applicable 
erosion control measures. 

 
R. Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified professional for 

projects in seismic areas, geologically unstable areas, or coastal bluffs, and 
project complies with hazard protection policies including provision of 
appropriate setbacks and mitigation measures; 

 

• Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified professionals for this 
project. Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project applicant 
shall comply with all applicable requirements of the most recent version of the 
California Building Standards Code. 

 
S. All other geological, flood and fire hazards are accounted for and mitigated in the 

project design; 
 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project complies with 
geological, flood, and fire hazards and are accounted for and will be mitigated in the 
project design. 

 
T. Project complies with shoreline structure policies; 
 

• The proposed project is not located along a shoreline. 
 

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 13

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
M

ar
 1

, 2
01

8 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
d

ra
ft

 M
ar

ch
 1

, 2
01

8,
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 m

in
u

te
s)

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.093
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.650


CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – March 1, 2018 11 
 

U. The uses proposed are consistent with the permitted or conditional uses of the 
zoning district in which the project is located; 

 

• This use is an allowed use consistent with the Single-Family zoning district. 
 
V. Conformance to requirements of all other city ordinances, zoning requirements, 

and project review procedures; and 
 

• The project conforms to the requirements of all city ordinances, zoning requirements, 
and project development review and development procedures. 

 
W. Project complies with the Capitola parking permit program as follows: 

a. The village area preferential parking program areas and conditions as established in 
Resolution No. 2596 and no permit parking of any kind shall be allowed on Capitola 
Avenue. 

b. The neighborhood preferential parking program areas are as established in 
Resolution Numbers 2433 and 2510. 

c. The village area preferential parking program shall be limited to three hundred fifty 
permits. 

d. Neighborhood permit areas are only in force when the shuttle bus is operating except 
that: 
i. The Fanmar area (Resolution No. 2436) program may operate year-round, 

twenty-four hours a day on weekends, 
ii. The Burlingame, Cliff Avenue/Grand Avenue area (Resolution No. 2435) have 

year-round, twenty-four hour per day “no public parking.” 
e. Except as specifically allowed under the village parking program, no preferential 

residential parking may be allowed in the Cliff Drive parking areas. 
f. Six Depot Hill twenty-four minute “Vista” parking spaces (Resolution No. 2510) shall be 

provided as corrected in Exhibit A attached to the ordinance codified in this section 
and found on file in the office of the city clerk. 

g. A limit of fifty permits for the Pacific Cove parking lot may be issued to village permit 
holders and transient occupancy permit holders. 

h. No additional development in the village that intensifies use and requires additional 
parking shall be permitted. Changes in use that do not result in additional parking 
demand can be allowed and exceptions for onsite parking as allowed in the 
land use plan can be made. 

 

• The project site is not located within the area of the Capitola parking permit program. 

 

RESULT: APPROVED AS AMENDED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Linda Smith, Commissioner 

SECONDER: TJ Welch, Commissioner 

AYES: Smith, Newman, Welch, Storey 

EXCUSED: Westman 

 

 

 

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 14

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
M

ar
 1

, 2
01

8 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
d

ra
ft

 M
ar

ch
 1

, 2
01

8,
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 m

in
u

te
s)

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.520
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.510
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690


CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – March 1, 2018 12 
 

6. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

A. 1810 Wharf Road #17-0381 APN: 035-111-02 
Design Permit, Conditional Use Permit, and Coastal Development Permit for an addition to 
a historic single-family residence with a detached garage in the R-1/AR (Single 
Family/Automatic Review) Zoning District.  The proposal includes a variance for height of 
the water tower, the front yard setback of the detached garage, reduction of onsite parking, 
and for exceeding the maximum value of a non-conforming structure.      
This project requires a Coastal Development Permit which is appealable to the California 
Coastal Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted through the City. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Benjamin Strock 
Representative: Benjamin Strock, filed: 6/27/16 
 

Senior Planner Herlihy presented the project. The Commissioners had various questions 
and concerns. Chairperson Storey suggested discussing and considering each variance 
request and the fence exception separately. 
 
The applicant's designer, Derek Van Alstine, responded to the questions and concerns, and 
explained that a tree on the property made it difficult to get another parking space.  

 
Designer Van Alstine suggested removing the two-foot planting strip to get two smaller 
spaces in front of the garage and discussed some other options, which resulted in the 
Commission directing staff to work with the applicant on possible solutions. Commissioner 
Smith requested that the wording clearly indicate that the garage be shorter and not moved 
back. Senior Planner Herlihy recommended that the internal garage spaces should be 
10x20. 
 

MOTION: Approve Design Permit, Conditional Use Permit, Coastal Development Permit, and 
variances for height of the water tower, the front yard setback of the detached garage, and for 
exceeding the maximum value of a non-conforming structure; deny variance request for parking 
reduction; and deny exception request for fence height, with the following conditions and 
findings: 
 
 
CEQA (modified) 
CEQA exemption §15183. Projects Consistent with a Community Plan, General Plan, or 
Zoning. The project qualifies for an exemption under CEQA §15183 because it is consistent 
with the development standards of the City’s 2014 General Plan. The project proposes and 
addition to a historic single-family home with a new detached garage. The project does not 
increase the density of the property and there is nothing peculiar about the parcel or the project 
which may result in a new or more severe environmental impact that was not anticipated under 
the General Plan EIR. The project would also not result in any new or more severe cumulative 
impacts, nor is there any new substantial information which was not known at the time the 
General Plan EIR was certified.  
 
The project site is located within the City’s archaeological resources overlay zoning district, and 
therefore grading activities associated with the project may have a significant effect on cultural 
resources. Accordingly, mitigation measures consistent with the General Plan EIR (Cult-2) have 
been incorporated into the conditions of approval. The conditions require preparation of a 
cultural resource monitoring plan by a qualified archaeologist prior to any earthwork and a 
cultural resource monitoring program during all grading activities.  
 

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 15

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
M

ar
 1

, 2
01

8 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
d

ra
ft

 M
ar

ch
 1

, 2
01

8,
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 m

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – March 1, 2018 13 
 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1. The project approval consists of a 732 square-foot addition to an existing 2,232 square-foot 

home. The project also includes an 815 square-foot detached garage. The maximum Floor 
Area Ratio for the 13,283-square foot property is 60% (7,910 square feet). The total FAR of 
the project is 3,944 square feet, compliant with the maximum FAR within the zone. The 
proposed project is approved as indicated on the final plans reviewed and approved by the 
Planning Commission on March 1, 2018, except as modified through conditions imposed by 
the Planning Commission during the hearing. 
 

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or 
modifications to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be consistent 
with the plans approved by the Planning Commission. All construction and site 
improvements shall be completed according to the approved plans. 

 
3. During the March 1, 2018, Planning Commission meeting the variance request for 

decreased onsite parking was denied. At time of submittal for building permit review, four 
onsite parking spaces must be shown in the plans. Covered parking spaces shall be a 
minimum of 10 feet by 20 feet. Uncovered parking spaces shall be a minimum of 9 feet by 
18 feet with the required two feet minimum landscape strip along the side property line.  
 

4. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be printed in 
full on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  

 
5. At time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail SMP STRM 

shall be printed in full and incorporated as a sheet into the construction plans. All 
construction shall be done in accordance with the Public Works Standard Detail BMP 
STRM.  

 
6. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically 

requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department. Any 
significant changes to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require Planning 
Commission approval.  

 
7. Prior to issuance of building permit, a final landscape plan shall be submitted and approved 

by the Community Development Department. Landscape plans shall reflect the Planning 
Commission approval and shall identify type, size, and location of species and details of 
irrigation systems.  

 
8. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #17-0381 shall 

be paid in full. 
 
9. Prior to issuance of building permit, all drainage improvements shall be approved by the 

Public Works Director. 
 

10. Prior to issuance of building permit, Affordable housing in-lieu fees shall be paid as required 
to assure compliance with the City of Capitola Affordable (Inclusionary) Housing Ordinance.  

 
11. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan 

approval by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel Creek 
Water District, and Central Fire Protection District.  
 

12. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion control 
plan, shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works. The plans shall be in 

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 16

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
M

ar
 1

, 2
01

8 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
d

ra
ft

 M
ar

ch
 1

, 2
01

8,
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 m

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – March 1, 2018 14 
 

compliance with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code Chapter 13.16 Storm 
Water Pollution Prevention and Protection. 
 

13. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater management 
plan to the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements all applicable Post 
Construction Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard Details, including all 
standards relating to low impact development (LID). 

 
14. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading official 

to verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan.  
 
15. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired by 

the contractor performing the work. No material or equipment storage may be placed in the 
road right-of-way. 
 

16. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise curfew, 
except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City. Construction 
noise shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty a.m. on weekdays. 
Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the exception of Saturday work 
between nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work approved by the building official. 
§9.12.010B 

 
17. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches, curb, gutter, or sidewalk 

shall be replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction of the Public 
Works Department. All replaced driveway approaches, curb, gutter or sidewalk shall meet 
current Accessibility Standards. 
 

18. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of approval 
shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director. Upon 
evidence of non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable municipal code 
provisions, the applicant shall remedy the non-compliance to the satisfaction of the 
Community Development Director or shall file an application for a permit amendment for 
Planning Commission consideration. Failure to remedy a non-compliance in a timely manner 
may result in permit revocation. 

 
19. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance. The applicant shall have an 

approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent permit 
expiration. Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to expiration 
pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 
 

20. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the 
applicant to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the site 
on which the approval was granted. 
 

21. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be placed 
out of public view on non-collection days.  
 

22. Prior to issuance of building permits, the building plans must show that the existing 
overhead utility lines will be underground to the nearest utility pole.  

 
23. Prior to submittal of building permit or grading permit, the applicant shall submit a cultural 

resource monitoring plan, prepared by a qualified archaeologist, to the satisfaction of the 

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 17

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
M

ar
 1

, 2
01

8 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
d

ra
ft

 M
ar

ch
 1

, 2
01

8,
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 m

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – March 1, 2018 15 
 

Community Development Director. At a minimum, the monitoring plan shall: 

a. Identify all areas of proposed grading or earth disturbing activities which have the 
potential to impact historic or prehistoric resources; 

b. Identify the qualified archaeological monitor assigned to the project; 

c. Describe the proposed monitoring program, including the areas to be monitored, the 
duration of monitoring, and monitoring protocols. 

d. Outline procedures to be followed if cultural resources are discovered, including 
requirements to stop work, consultation with the City and any Native American 
participation (as appropriate), resource evaluation, mitigation plan requirements, and 
protocols if human remains are encountered. 

e. Post-monitoring reporting requirements and curation procedures. 

24. Prior to issuance of a building or grading permit, the applicant shall submit evidence that a 
qualified archaeological monitor has been retained to oversee all earthwork activities.  
 

25. The archaeological monitor shall attend the preconstruction meeting to coordinate required 
grading monitoring activities with the construction manager and contractors.  

 
26. If resources are encountered, the archaeological monitor shall have the authority to stop 

work until a significance determination is made.  
 
27. If significant resources are discovered, work may remain halted at the archaeologist’s 

discretion until such time that a mitigation plan has been prepared and implemented with the 
concurrence of the Community Development Department. 

 
28. Following completion of archaeological monitoring, the archaeologist shall submit a 

summary and findings of the monitoring work.  

a. If no resources are recovered, a brief letter report shall be completed that includes a 
site record update on a California Department of Park and Recreation form 523.  

b. If significant resources are recovered, the report shall include a preliminary 
evaluation of the resources, a preliminary map of discovered resources, a completed 
California Department of Park and Recreation form 523, and recommendations for 
additional research if warranted.  

29. If human remains are found at any time, the immediate area of the discovery shall be closed 
to pedestrian and vehicular traffic within 150 feet of the discovery and the Santa Cruz 
County Coroner must be notified immediately. If the Coroner determines that the remains 
are Native American, the Native American Heritage Commission shall be notified as 
required by law.  

30. The archaeological monitor may discontinue monitoring with approval by the Community 
Development Director if he/she finds that site conditions, such as the presence of imported 
fill or other factors, indicates that significant prehistoric deposits are not possible. 

 
31. The archaeologist shall prepare a grading monitoring letter report summarizing all 

monitoring work and any recovered resources. The letter report shall be submitted to the 
Community Development Department within 30 days following completion of grading 
activities. 

 
  
FINDINGS 

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 18

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
M

ar
 1

, 2
01

8 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
d

ra
ft

 M
ar

ch
 1

, 2
01

8,
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 m

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – March 1, 2018 16 
 
A. The application, subject to the conditions imposed, secures the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the project. The project secures the purpose of the 
Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. The integrity of the historic 
resource will be maintained within the proposed design.  

 
B. The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 

Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the addition to the historic resource. The new 
addition will not overwhelm the historic structure. The design does not compromise the 
integrity of the historic resource. The application will maintain the character and integrity of 
the neighborhood reinforcing the development pattern of homes being located close to the 
street and large setbacks from the creek.  

 
C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301 of the California 

Environmental Quality Act  
Section 15301 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts minor alterations to existing structures 
when the addition to the existing structure is less than 50 percent of the floor area of the 
existing home. No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during review of the 
proposed project.  
 

D. Special circumstances applicable to the subject property, including size, shape, 
topography, location or surroundings, exist on the site and the strict application of 
this title is found to deprive subject property of privileges enjoyed by other properties 
in the vicinity and under identical zone classification; 
The special circumstances applicable to the property is that the subject property is a historic 
site, with a very steep grade on the rear 2/3 of the lot extending down to the Soquel Creek 
and an expanded setback requirement from the riparian corridor. Multiple properties along 
Wharf Road extend into the front yard setbacks due to steepness of the lots.  
 

E. The grant of a variance would not constitute a grant of a special privilege inconsistent 
with the limitation upon other properties in the vicinity and zone in which subject 
property is situated. 
Multiple properties along Wharf Road extend into the front yard setbacks due to steepness 
of the lots. 

 
COASTAL FINDINGS 
D. Findings Required. A coastal permit shall be granted only upon adoption of specific 
written factual findings supporting the conclusion that the proposed development 
conforms to the certified Local Coastal Program, including, but not limited to: 

 

• The proposed development conforms to the City’s certified Local Coastal Plan (LCP). The 
specific, factual findings, as per CMC Section 17.46.090 (D) are as follows:  

 
(D) (2) Require Project-Specific Findings. In determining any requirement for public 
access, including the type of access and character of use, the city shall evaluate and 
document in written findings the factors identified in subsections (D) (2) (a) through (e), 
to the extent applicable. The findings shall explain the basis for the conclusions and 
decisions of the city and shall be supported by substantial evidence in the record. If an 
access dedication is required as a condition of approval, the findings shall explain how 
the adverse effects which have been identified will be alleviated or mitigated by the 
dedication. As used in this section, “cumulative effect” means the effect of the individual 

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 19

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
M

ar
 1

, 2
01

8 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
d

ra
ft

 M
ar

ch
 1

, 2
01

8,
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 m

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – March 1, 2018 17 
 
project in combination with the effects of past projects, other current projects, and 
probable future projects, including development allowed under applicable planning and 
zoning. 
 
(D) (2) (a) Project Effects on Demand for Access and Recreation. Identification of existing 
and open public access and coastal recreation areas and facilities in the regional and 
local vicinity of the development. Analysis of the project’s effects upon existing public 
access and recreation opportunities. Analysis of the project’s cumulative effects upon 
the use and capacity of the identified access and recreation opportunities, including 
public tidelands and beach resources, and upon the capacity of major coastal roads from 
subdivision, intensification or cumulative build-out. Projection for the anticipated 
demand and need for increased coastal access and recreation opportunities for the 
public. Analysis of the contribution of the project’s cumulative effects to any such 
projected increase. Description of the physical characteristics of the site and its 
proximity to the sea, tideland viewing points, upland recreation areas, and trail linkages 
to tidelands or recreation areas. Analysis of the importance and potential of the site, 
because of its location or other characteristics, for creating, preserving or enhancing 
public access to tidelands or public recreation opportunities;  

 

• The proposed project is located at 1810 Wharf Road. The rear property line is located along 
the Soquel Creek. The project will not directly affect public access and coastal recreation 
areas as it involves a single-family home located along the frontage of Wharf Road. The 
home will not have an effect on public trails or beach access. 

 

(D) (2) (b) Shoreline Processes. Description of the existing shoreline conditions, 
including beach profile, accessibility and usability of the beach, history of erosion or 
accretion, character and sources of sand, wave and sand movement, presence of 
shoreline protective structures, location of the line of mean high tide during the season 
when the beach is at its narrowest (generally during the late winter) and the proximity of 
that line to existing structures, and any other factors which substantially characterize or 
affect the shoreline processes at the site. Identification of anticipated changes to 
shoreline processes at the site. Identification of anticipated changes to shoreline 
processes and beach profile unrelated to the proposed development. Description and 
analysis of any reasonably likely changes, attributable to the primary and cumulative 
effects of the project, to: wave and sand movement affecting beaches in the vicinity of 
the project; the profile of the beach; the character, extent, accessibility and usability of 
the beach; and any other factors which characterize or affect beaches in the vicinity. 
Analysis of the effect of any identified changes of the project, alone or in combination 
with other anticipated changes, will have upon the ability of the public to use public 
tidelands and shoreline recreation areas; 

 

• The proposed project is located along Wharf Road. No portion of the project is located along 
the shoreline or beach.  

 
(D) (2) (c) Historic Public Use. Evidence of use of the site by members of the general 
public for a continuous five-year period (such use may be seasonal). Evidence of the 
type and character of use made by the public (vertical, lateral, blufftop, etc., and for 
passive and/or active recreational use, etc.). Identification of any agency (or person) who 
has maintained and/or improved the area subject to historic public use and the nature of 
the maintenance performed and improvements made. Identification of the record owner 
of the area historically used by the public and any attempts by the owner to prohibit 
public use of the area, including the success or failure of those attempts. Description of 
the potential for adverse impact on public use of the area from the proposed 

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 20

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
M

ar
 1

, 2
01

8 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
d

ra
ft

 M
ar

ch
 1

, 2
01

8,
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 m

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – March 1, 2018 18 
 
development (including but not limited to, creation of physical or psychological 
impediments to public use);  

 

• There is not historic public use on the property.  

(D) (2) (d) Physical Obstructions. Description of any physical aspects of the development 
which block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along the tidelands, public 
recreation areas, or other public coastal resources or to see the shoreline; 

• The proposed project is located on private property on Wharf Road. The project will not 
block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along the tidelands, public recreation 
areas, or views to the shoreline.  

 
(D) (2) (e) Other Adverse Impacts on Access and Recreation. Description of the 
development’s physical proximity and relationship to the shoreline and any public 
recreation area. Analysis of the extent of which buildings, walls, signs, streets or other 
aspects of the development, individually or cumulatively, are likely to diminish the 
public’s use of tidelands or lands committed to public recreation. Description of any 
alteration of the aesthetic, visual or recreational value of public use areas, and of any 
diminution of the quality or amount of recreational use of public lands which may be 
attributable to the individual or cumulative effects of the development.  

 

• The proposed project is located on private property that will not impact access and 
recreation. The project does not diminish the public’s use of tidelands or lands committed to 
public recreation nor alter the aesthetic, visual or recreational value of public use areas. 

 
(D) (3) (a – c) Required Findings for Public Access Exceptions. Any determination that 
one of the exceptions of subsection (F) (2) applies to a development shall be supported 
by written findings of fact, analysis and conclusions which address all of the following: 

a. The type of access potentially applicable to the site involved (vertical, lateral, bluff 
top, etc.) and its location in relation to the fragile coastal resource to be protected, 
the agricultural use, the public safety concern, or the military facility which is the 
basis for the exception, as applicable; 

b. Unavailability of any mitigating measures to manage the type, character, intensity, 
hours, season or location of such use so that agricultural resources, fragile coastal 
resources, public safety, or military security, as applicable, are protected; 

c. Ability of the public, through another reasonable means, to reach the same area of 
public tidelands as would be made accessible by an access way on the subject land. 

• The project is not requesting a Public Access Exception, therefore these findings do not 
apply 

(D) (4) (a – f) Findings for Management Plan Conditions. Written findings in support of a 
condition requiring a management plan for regulating the time and manner or character 
of public access use must address the following factors, as applicable: 

a. Identification and protection of specific habitat values including the reasons 
supporting the conclusions that such values must be protected by limiting the 
hours, seasons, or character of public use; 

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 21

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
M

ar
 1

, 2
01

8 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
d

ra
ft

 M
ar

ch
 1

, 2
01

8,
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 m

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – March 1, 2018 19 
 
• The project is adequately setback from the edge of the riparian corridor.  

b. Topographic constraints of the development site; 

• The project is located on the flat portion of the lot. The steep slope on the rear of the lot will 
not be built upon.  

c. Recreational needs of the public; 

• Public recreation is not impacted by the project. 

d. Rights of privacy of the landowner which could not be mitigated by setting the project 
back from the access way or otherwise conditioning the development; 

e. The requirements of the possible accepting agency, if an offer of dedication is the 
mechanism for securing public access; 

f. Feasibility of adequate setbacks, fencing, landscaping, and other methods as part of a 
management plan to regulate public use. 

(D) (5)  Project complies with public access requirements, including submittal of 
appropriate legal documents to ensure the right of public access whenever, and as, 
required by the certified land use plan and Section 17.46.010 (coastal access 
requirements); 

 

• No legal documents to ensure public access rights are required for the proposed project 
  
(D) (6) Project complies with visitor-serving and recreational use policies;  

 

SEC. 30222 

The use of private lands suitable for visitor-serving commercial recreational facilities 
designed to enhance public opportunities for coastal recreation shall have priority over 
private residential, general industrial, or general commercial development, but not over 
agriculture or coastal-dependent industry. 

• The project involves a single-family home on a residential lot of record.  

SEC. 30223 

Upland areas necessary to support coastal recreational uses shall be reserved for such 
uses, where feasible. 

• The project involves a single-family home on a residential lot of record.  

c) Visitor-serving facilities that cannot be feasibly located in existing developed areas 
shall be located in existing isolated developments or at selected points of attraction 
for visitors. 

 

• The project involves a single-family home on a residential lot of record.  

 (D) (7) Project complies with applicable standards and requirements for provision of 
public and private parking, pedestrian access, alternate means of transportation and/or 
traffic improvements; 

 

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 22

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
M

ar
 1

, 2
01

8 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
d

ra
ft

 M
ar

ch
 1

, 2
01

8,
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 m

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – March 1, 2018 20 
 
• The project involves the construction of a single-family home. The project complies with 

applicable standards and requirements for provision for parking, pedestrian access, 
alternate means of transportation and/or traffic improvements.  

 
(D) (8)  Review of project design, site plan, signing, lighting, landscaping, etc., by the 
city’s architectural and site review committee, and compliance with adopted design 
guidelines and standards, and review committee recommendations; 

 

• The project complies with the design guidelines and standards established by the Municipal 
Code.  

  
(D) (9) Project complies with LCP policies regarding protection of public landmarks, 
protection or provision of public views; and shall not block or detract from public views 
to and along Capitola’s shoreline; 
 

• The project will not result negatively impact public landmarks and/or public views. The 
project will not block or detract from public views to and along Capitola’s shoreline.  

 
(D) (10) Demonstrated availability and adequacy of water and sewer services; 

 

• The project is located on a legal lot of record with available water and sewer services.  

 
(D) (11) Provisions of minimum water flow rates and fire response times;  

 

• The project is located within a mile of the Capitola fire department. Water is available at the 
location  

 (D) (12) Project complies with water and energy conservation standards; 
 

• The project is for a single-family home. The GHG emissions for the project are projected at 
less than significant impact. All water fixtures must comply with the low-flow standards of the 
Soquel Creek Water District. 

 
(D) (13) Provision of park dedication, school impact, and other fees as may be required;  

 

• The project will be required to pay appropriate fees prior to building permit issuance. 
 

(D) (14) Project complies with coastal housing policies, and applicable ordinances 
including condominium conversion and mobile home ordinances; 
 

• The project does not involve a condo conversion or mobile homes.  
 

(D) (15) Project complies with natural resource, habitat, and archaeological protection 
policies;  

 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with established policies. 
 

(D) (16) Project complies with Monarch butterfly habitat protection policies; 
 

• The project is outside of any identified sensitive habitats, specifically areas where Monarch 
Butterflies have been encountered, identified and documented. 

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 23

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
M

ar
 1

, 2
01

8 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
d

ra
ft

 M
ar

ch
 1

, 2
01

8,
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 m

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – March 1, 2018 21 
 

 
(D) (17) Project provides drainage and erosion and control measures to protect marine, 
stream, and wetland water quality from urban runoff and erosion; 

 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with applicable erosion 
control measures. 

 
(D) (18) Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified professional for 
projects in seismic areas, geologically unstable areas, or coastal bluffs, and project 
complies with hazard protection policies including provision of appropriate setbacks and 
mitigation measures; 

 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project applicant shall comply with 
all applicable requirements of the most recent version of the California Building Standards 
Code.  

 
(D) (19) All other geological, flood and fire hazards are accounted for and mitigated in the 
project design; 
 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project complies with geological, 
flood, and fire hazards and are accounted for and will be mitigated in the project design. 

  
(D) (20) Project complies with shoreline structure policies; 

  

• The proposed project is not located along a shoreline. 
  

(D) (21) The uses proposed are consistent with the permitted or conditional uses of the 
zoning district in which the project is located; 

 

• This use is an allowed use consistent with the Single-Family/Automatic Review zoning 
district.  

(D) (22) Conformance to requirements of all other city ordinances, zoning requirements, 
and project review procedures; 

 

• The project conforms to the requirements of all city ordinances, zoning requirements and 
project development review and development procedures. 

 
(D) (23) Project complies with the Capitola parking permit program as follows:  

 

• The project site is not located within the area of the Capitola parking permit program.  
 
 

RESULT: APPROVED AS AMENDED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Linda Smith, Commissioner 

SECONDER: TJ Welch, Commissioner 

AYES: Smith, Newman, Welch, Storey 

EXCUSED: Westman 

 

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 24

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
M

ar
 1

, 2
01

8 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
d

ra
ft

 M
ar

ch
 1

, 2
01

8,
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 m

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – March 1, 2018 22 
 

 
B. General Plan Clean-up Discussion   

 

Director Grunow said this item is informational and he is seeking direction from Planning 
Commission on proposed corrections to the General Plan and the Land Use Map. 
 
Chairperson Storey noted the use of different nomenclature for the same regions in the 
Zoning Code and the General Plan and suggested keeping the names consistent from one 
document to the other. Chairperson Storey also commented that he would like to see the 
public noticing period allotted more than the 45-day minimum time for the public to review 
and comment. After a brief discussion, the Planning Commission directed Director Grunow 
to move forward with the proposed corrections. 
 
Peter Pathoe addressed the Planning Commission during the public comment period to say 
that his organization, the Santa Cruz Hostel Society, would like to use the Rispin Mansion 
as a hostel. 

 

RESULT: RECEIVED REPORT AND PROVIDED DIRECTION AS ABOVE  

7. DIRECTOR'S REPORT 

Director Grunow reported that a discussion about traffic control in the Jewel Box neighborhood 
at the last City Council meeting resulted in new direction given to staff to evaluate additional 
options and return to them at a future date. 
 
Director Grunow also mentioned that another discussion on the marijuana ordinance is 
expected to take place sometime in April to discuss the Council’s interest in considering limited 
retail sales in the regional commercial zoning district, basically the area north of Capitola Road, 
on 41st Avenue. They did indicate that they are not interested in any cultivation or processing 
facilities in town. 
 
The League of California Cities is holding its annual Planning Commissioners Academy in 
Monterey, April 4 – 6, 2018, if any Commissioners are interested in attending. 

8. COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS 

Commissioner Newman thanked the staff regarding the 1810 Wharf Road project for 
researching the history of the neighboring property (Kisling property), and noted the difference 
between the roles of the staff and the Commissioners. 
  
Commissioner Smith asked if the Zoning Code is now adopted outside of the Coastal Zone and 
if there would be anything that compares the two? Senior Planner Herlihy responded that she 
has been working on getting that information live online and in print for the Commissioners. The 
tables will reflect the new codes on any future projects that come in that are outside of the 
Coastal Zone.  
 
Commissioner Welch asked for clarification on whether the businesses would be notified of any 
new proposed changes to the marijuana ordinance. 

9. ADJOURNMENT 

 

4.A.1

Packet Pg. 25

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
M

ar
 1

, 2
01

8 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
d

ra
ft

 M
ar

ch
 1

, 2
01

8,
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 m

in
u

te
s)



 

 

 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: APRIL 5, 2018 
 
SUBJECT: 110 Hollister Avenue #18-0085 APN: 036-144-10 
 

Design Permit to demolish an existing, one-story single-family residence and 
construct a new two-story single-family residence in the R-1 Single-Family 
Zoning District.   
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit 
that is appealable to the California Coastal Commission.  
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Lisa and Mark Garrigues 
Representative: Clark E Shultes 

 
 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The applicant is proposing a new single-family home located at 110 Hollister Avenue within the 
R-1 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district. The existing home is not listed on the 2005 City 
of Capitola Historic Structures List or the 2004 Depot HiIl Feasibility Study.  The applicant is 
proposing to demolish the existing home and build a new, two-story single-family home that 
complies with all the development regulations within the R-1 zoning district.  
 
BACKGROUND 
The Architectural and Site Review Committee reviewed the application on March 14th, 2018, 
and provided the applicant with the following direction: 
 
Public Works Representative, Danielle Uharriet, requested that the applicant show the 10-foot 
right-of-way on the plans and a driveway approach that complies with the 16 feet maximum 
width.  Ms. Uharriet informed the applicant that they can landscape the right-of-way in front of 
their property with the recordation of a minor revocable encroachment permit.    
 
Building Official, Fred Cullum: had no suggested revisions. 

 

Local Architect, Frank Phanton: complimented the design and the consideration given to 
neighboring structures.    
 
City Planner, Katie Herlihy: noted that the application is in compliance with all zoning 
regulations.   
 

5.A

Packet Pg. 26



 
 

 

Following the Architectural and Site Review hearing, the applicant modified the site plan to 
narrow the driveway approach and landscape the right-of-way.    
 
ZONING SUMMARY 
The following table outlines the zoning code requirements for development in the R-1 Single 
Family zoning district.  The new single-family home complies with all development standards of 
the R-1 district.   
 

R-1 (Single Family Residential) Zoning District 

Development Standards 

Building Height R-1 Regulation Proposed 

 25 ft. - 0 in. 24 ft. 2 in. 
Chimney height exception 
allowed per §17.81.070 

Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 

Lot Size 4,000 sq. ft. 

Maximum Floor Area Ratio 54 % (Max 2,160 sq. ft.) 

  Basement   250 sq. ft. (exempt from FAR) 

  First Story Floor Area 1,154 sq. ft. 

 Second Story Floor Area    974 sq. ft. 

 Covered Porch and Upper Story Deck      26 sq. ft. (176-150) 

   TOTAL FAR 2,154 sq. ft.  

Yards (setbacks are measured from the edge of the public right-of-way) 

 R-1 Regulation Proposed 

Front Yard 1st Story 15 ft. 18 ft. from right-of-way 

Front Yard  2nd Story & 
Garage 

20 ft 20 ft. ft. from right-of-way 

Side Yard 1st Story 10% lot 
width 

Lot width 40 ft 
4 ft. min. 

4 ft. from property line 

Side Yard 2nd Story 15% of 
width 

Lot width 40 ft.  
6 ft. min 

6 ft. from property line 

Rear Yard 1st Story 20% of 
lot depth 

Lot depth 100 ft. 
20 ft. min. 

38 ft. from property line 

Encroachments (list all)  12 in. roof overhang into front 
and side yards.   

Parking 

 Required Proposed 

Residential (from 2001 sq. ft. 
up to 2,600 sq. ft.) 

3 spaces total 
1 covered 
2 uncovered 

3 spaces total 
1 covered 
2 uncovered 

Garage and Accessory Bldg. Complies with Standards? Yes 

Garage Yes Complies 

Underground Utilities: required with 25% increase in 
area 

Required 

 
DISCUSSION 
The existing residence at 110 Hollister Avenue is a one-story, single-family residence that is not 
historically significant.  The applicant is proposing to demolish the existing residence and 
construct a new two-story, single-family residence.  The property is located in the Depot Hill 
neighborhood and is surrounded by one- and two-story single-family homes.   

5.A

Packet Pg. 27



 
 

 

 
The proposed craftsman style residence compliments the surrounding neighborhood with lap 
siding on the first story and board and batten on the second story.  The proposed craftsman 
style features include: exposed rafters, knee bracing in gable ends, top border light windows, 
and aluminum clad windows and doors throughout.  The home is well articulated with second 
floor setback from the first, a prominent stucco chimney on the front façade, and a second story 
deck on the front corner.   
   
The proposed 2,153 square foot residence is required to have three on-site parking spaces, one 
of which must be covered.  The proposal includes three parking spaces: one in the garage and 
two on the driveway. The proposal complies with all relevant code requirements and limitations 
of the R-1 Zoning district.  
 
CEQA 
Section 15303(a) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts one single family residence, or a second 
dwelling unit in a residential zone.  No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during 
review of the proposed project.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission review the application and approve project 
application #18-0085. 
 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1. The project approval consists of demolition of the existing home and construction of a 

new 2,152-square-foot single-family residence. The maximum Floor Area Ratio for the 
4,000-square-foot property is 54% (2,160 square feet).  The total FAR of the project is 
54% with a total of 2,154 square feet, compliant with the maximum FAR within the zone. 
The proposed project is approved as indicated on the final plans reviewed and approved 
by the Planning Commission on April 5, 2018, except as modified through conditions 
imposed by the Planning Commission during the hearing. 
 

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or 
modifications to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be 
consistent with the plans approved by the Planning Commission.  All construction and 
site improvements shall be completed according to the approved plans 
 

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be 
printed in full on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  
 

4. At time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail SMP STRM 
shall be printed in full and incorporated as a sheet into the construction plans.  All 
construction shall be done in accordance with the Public Works Standard Detail BMP 
STRM.   

 
5. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically 

requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any 
significant changes to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require 
Planning Commission approval.   
 

6. Prior to issuance of building permit, a final landscape plan shall be submitted and 
approved by the Community Development Department.  Landscape plans shall reflect 

5.A

Packet Pg. 28



 
 

 

the Planning Commission approval and shall identify type, size, and location of species 
and details of irrigation systems.   

 
7. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #18-0085 

shall be paid in full. 
 

8. Prior to issuance of building permit, Affordable housing in-lieu fees shall be paid as 
required to assure compliance with the City of Capitola Affordable (Inclusionary) Housing 
Ordinance.   
 

9. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan 
approval by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel 
Creek Water District, and Central Fire Protection District.   
 

10. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion 
control plan, shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works.  The plans 
shall be in compliance with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code 
Chapter 13.16 Storm Water Pollution Prevention and Protection. 
 

11. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater 
management plan to the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements 
all applicable Post Construction Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard 
Details, including all standards relating to low impact development (LID). 
 

12. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading 
official to verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan.  
 

13. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired 
by the contractor performing the work.  No material or equipment storage may be placed 
in the road right-of-way. 
 

14. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise 
curfew, except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City.  
Construction noise shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty 
a.m. on weekdays. Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the 
exception of Saturday work between nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work 
approved by the building official. §9.12.010B 
 

15. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches, curb, gutter, or 
sidewalk shall be replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction 
of the Public Works Department.  All replaced driveway approaches, curb, gutter or 
sidewalk shall meet current Accessibility Standards. 

    
16. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of 

approval shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development 
Director.  Upon evidence of non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable 
municipal code provisions, the applicant shall remedy the non-compliance to the 
satisfaction of the Community Development Director or shall file an application for a 
permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure to remedy a non-
compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation. 
 

5.A

Packet Pg. 29



 
 

 

17. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance.   The applicant shall have 
an approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent 
permit expiration.   Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to 
expiration pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 
 

18. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the 
applicant to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the 
site on which the approval was granted. 
 

19. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be 
placed out of public view on non-collection days.  
 

20. Prior to issuance of building permits, the building plans must show that the existing 
overhead utility lines will be underground to the nearest utility pole.   

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. 110 Hollister Plans 
 
Prepared By: Katie Herlihy 
  Senior Planner 

5.A

Packet Pg. 30



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 31

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

10
 H

o
lli

st
er

 P
la

n
s 

 (
11

0 
H

o
lli

st
er

 A
ve

)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 32

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

10
 H

o
lli

st
er

 P
la

n
s 

 (
11

0 
H

o
lli

st
er

 A
ve

)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 33

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

10
 H

o
lli

st
er

 P
la

n
s 

 (
11

0 
H

o
lli

st
er

 A
ve

)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 34

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

10
 H

o
lli

st
er

 P
la

n
s 

 (
11

0 
H

o
lli

st
er

 A
ve

)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 35

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

10
 H

o
lli

st
er

 P
la

n
s 

 (
11

0 
H

o
lli

st
er

 A
ve

)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 36

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

10
 H

o
lli

st
er

 P
la

n
s 

 (
11

0 
H

o
lli

st
er

 A
ve

)



 

 

 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: APRIL 5, 2018 
 
SUBJECT: 1098 38th Avenue #18-0052 APN: 034-172-01 
 

Fence exception to permit a six-foot high fence in the front yard along the side 
property line and an eight-foot high solid fence on the side property line 
extending to the rear property line. This project is located in the RM-M (Multi-
Family Medium Density) zoning district. 
This project is in the Coastal Zone and does not require a Coastal Development 
Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Central California Alliance for Health 

 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The application is for a fence exception for the height and material of a new fence along the side 
property lines at 1098 38th Avenue located within the RM-M (Multi-Family Medium Density) 
zone.  
 
BACKGROUND 
1098 38th Avenue was previously the site of the Capitola Manor, a residential care facility for the 
elderly.  The property sold in 2016 to a new owner that plans to remodel the facility into a skilled 
nursing facility with 95 beds.  The project does not require a conditional use permit as the land 
use falls under the previously approved conditional use permit for a convalescent hospital.  The 
applicant is not adding onto the facility, but will be upgrading the exterior with new windows and 
paint.     
 
Building permits are currently under review by the Office of Statewide Health Planning and 
Development (OSHPD).  Under state law, skilled nursing facilities are exempt from local 
jurisdiction building plan review.  The facility remodel is currently under review by OSHPD.   
 
The owner would like to replace the dilapidated fence along the side property lines with a new 
fence, which is under the purview of the City.  The applicant is requesting height and design 
exceptions to provide increase privacy for the patient and prevent trespassing from the railroad 
tracks.   
 
DISCUSSION 
The property borders the railroad tracks along the north property line and the Shangri-La mobile 
home park to the south.  Along the train tracks, the fence is staggered with heights ranging from 
five-feet one-inch high to six-feet three-inches high. Gaps in this fence have been patched with 

6.A

Packet Pg. 37



 
 

 

plywood boards that extend up to 8-feet tall.  On the south side, the existing wood fence ranges 
in height from four-feet to seven-feet six-inches. No changes are proposed to the concrete block 
wall at the rear of the property or the vinyl fence along the front property line.   
 
The applicant is proposing to replace fencing along the side property lines only.  The proposed 
fence is six-feet in height from the front property line to the front façade of the existing building.  
At the point of the front façade of the building, the fence is proposed to be eight feet in height of 
solid fence extending to the rear property line.  The proposed fence is a solid redwood fence, 
stained with a natural redwood color and no lattice.  The proposal is identical for both sides of 
the property. 
 
Fence Exception  
Chapter 17.54 of the Capitola Municipal code outlines regulations for fence permits. Pursuant to 
§17.54.020. A, fences between the front property line and the front line of the principal building, 
are limited to a maximum height of three-feet six-inches.  On the part of the property back of the 
front line of the principal building, the maximum height permitted is eight feet, provided that the 
top two-feet is made of lattice or other open material.  
 
§17.54. 020.B allows the Planning Commission to approve an alternative locations, height, and 
materials for fences.  The applicant is requesting two exceptions. One for the height of the fence 
in the area in front of the principal building to exceed the 42-inch limit up to six feet.  The second 
exception requested is for materials to not require lattice on the top two feet of fencing on the 
eight-feet high sections. There are no criteria in the code for the Planning Commission to review 
when making a fence height exception.   
 
The land use of the property and the surrounding properties should be taken into consideration 
by the Planning Commission when deciding whether or not to approve the requested exception.  
The medical facility is designed with each patient room having large windows that look out to the 
periphery of the property.  The request for the eight feet of solid fence is to provide additional 
privacy for the patients from the public along the railroad track and residents at the mobile home 
park.   
 
The future use of the railroad tracks is currently under consideration regionally for rail, trail, or a 
combination of the two.  Line of sight will be important all future options.  The Public Works 
Director will require that the fence be limited to 30 inches for the first 30 feet from the front 
property line along the tracks to ensure line of sight.   
 
On the south property line, the existing fence is at the 42-inch height limit and transitions slightly 
higher at the first mobile home.  The front façade of the first mobile home is approximately 
twenty-five-feet back from the sidewalk. The adjacent mobile home park is supportive of the 
proposed fence exceptions and sharing the cost.  (Attachment 3)  Staff recommends that the 
Planning Commission limit the fence height on the south property line to be limited to 42-inches 
to the front façade of the first mobile home.  This would provide privacy while maintaining a 
neighborhood aesthetic along the frontage.  Exhibit 2 is a diagram of staff’s recommendation. 
 
CEQA 
Section 15304 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts minor alterations to land. No adverse 
environmental impacts were discovered during review of the proposed project. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission approve application #18-0052 with the 
requirement that the fence on the north property line be limited to 30-inches in height for the first 

6.A

Packet Pg. 38



 
 

 

30-feet extending from 38th Avenue and the fence on the south property line to be limited to 42-
inches to the front façade of the first mobile home based on the following Conditions and 
Findings for Approval.  
 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1. The project approval consists of a new fence on the north and south property lines of 1098 

38th Avenue.  The fence on the north property line may extend 30-inches in height for the 
first 30-feet, then extend to six feet of height to the front façade of the main building, and 
then extend 8-feet in height, with no required lattice, to the rear property line.  Along the 
south property line, the fence may extend 42-inches in height to the front façade of the first 
mobile home on the adjacent property, then extend to six feet of height to the front façade of 
the main building on 1098 38th Avenue, and then extend to 8-feet in height, with no required 
lattice, to the rear property line.  A fence permit with an exception to the height and material 
requirements has been approved within this application.   

 
2. Compliance with all conditions of approval shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the 

Community Development Director.  Upon evidence of non-compliance with conditions of 

approval or applicable municipal code provisions, the applicant shall remedy the non-

compliance to the satisfaction of the Community Development Director or shall file an 

application for a permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure to 

remedy a non-compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation. 

3. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #18-052 shall 
be paid in full. 
 

4. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance.   The applicant shall have an 

construction underway before this date to prevent permit expiration.   Applications for 

extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to expiration pursuant to Municipal Code 

section 17.81.160. 

5. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 

underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the 

applicant to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the site 

on which the approval was granted. 

FINDINGS 
A.  The application, subject to the conditions imposed, secures the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 

Community Development Staff, and the Planning Commission have all reviewed the proposed 

fence exceptions.  The fence conforms to the requirements of the Local 

Coastal Program and conditions of approval have been included to carry 

out the objectives of the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan and Local 

Coastal Plan. 
 
B.  This project is categorically exempt under Section 15304 of the California    

Environmental Quality Act and is subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the California 
Code of Regulations. 
Section 15304 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts minor alterations to land.  No adverse 
environmental impacts were discovered during review of the proposed project. 

 

6.A

Packet Pg. 39



 
 

 

ATTACHMENTS:  

1. 1098 38th Avenue Plans 
2. Staff Recommendation 
3. Shangri-La Estates Public Input 

 
Prepared By: Katie Herlihy 
  Senior Planner 

6.A

Packet Pg. 40



6.A.1

Packet Pg. 41

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

09
8 

38
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
P

la
n

s 
 (

10
98

 3
8t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



6.A.1

Packet Pg. 42

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

09
8 

38
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
P

la
n

s 
 (

10
98

 3
8t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



6.A.1

Packet Pg. 43

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 1

09
8 

38
th

 A
ve

n
u

e 
P

la
n

s 
 (

10
98

 3
8t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



Diagram of Staff Recommendation for Fence Height Exception 

 

 

 

  30 inch max 

  42 inch max 

  6 feet max 

  8 feet max – solid not lattice 

 

6.A.2

Packet Pg. 44

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

ta
ff

 R
ec

o
m

m
en

d
at

io
n

  (
10

98
 3

8t
h

 A
ve

n
u

e)



Shangri-La Estates for Mobile Homes__________________________________________ 

Shangri-La Estates • 1040 38th Avenue, Santa Cruz, CA 95062 • (831) 475-7494 • shangrila1040@gmail.com 

March 30, 2018 

 

City of Capitola Planning Department 
420 Capitola Avenue 
Capitola, CA 95010 
Attn: Katie Herlihy, AICP 
 
Noel de Guzman 
Shangri-La Estates 
1040 38th Avenue 
Santa Cruz, CA 95062 
  
Subject: Fence Replacement Application At The Property Line Between 1040 and 1098 38th 

Avenue, Santa Cruz, CA 95062. 
  
Dear Mrs. Herlihy, 
 
Please consider this letter as notice that the property owner of Shangri-La Estates for Mobile 
Homes (Shangri-La Estates) is in agreement with the proposed fence replacement along the 
property line between 1098 38th Ave (The Capitola Manor) and 1040 38th Ave (Shangri-La 
Estates). And, we would support the approval of the related application that was submitted to 
your department. 
 
Shangri-La Estates agrees to a new 8-ft tall fence that extends from the rear of the property 
along the shared property line to a point that is adjacent to the front, southwest, corner of the 
existing Capitola Manor building; and agrees to a new 6-ft tall fence continuing from the point 
adjacent to the front, southwest corner of the building to the front of the property (or as 
adjusted per code).  We believe a new fence, as described above, would provide the 
necessary privacy and security to occupants of both properties. 
 
Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions or concerns. 
  
Thank you for your help and consideration in this matter. 
  
Respectfully, 
  

  
 
 
 
 

Noel de Guzman 
Property Manager/Owner Representative 
Shangri-La Estates for Mobile Homes 
Cell: 510-579-2859 

6.A.3

Packet Pg. 45

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

h
an

g
ri

-L
a 

E
st

at
es

 P
u

b
lic

 In
p

u
t 

 (
10

98
 3

8t
h

 A
ve

n
u

e)

tel:(510)%20579-2859


 

 

 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: APRIL 5, 2018 
 
SUBJECT: 1725 48th Avenue #17-0403 APN: 034-022-41 
 

Design Permit and Conditional Use Permit to convert an existing historic barn 
into an Accessory Dwelling Unit and build a new single car garage in the R-1 
(Single-Family Residential) zoning district.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit 
that is not appealable to the California Coastal Commission. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Michael and Elizabeth Adams 
Representative: Dennis Norton Filed: 10/10/17 

 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The applicant is proposing to convert an existing historic barn/garage to an Accessory Dwelling 
Unit and add a new single car garage at 1725 48th Avenue within the R-1 (Single-Family 
Residential) zoning district.  
 
BACKGROUND 
The Architectural and Site Review Committee reviewed the application on March 14th, 2018, 
and provided the applicant with the following direction: 
 
Public Works Representative, Danielle Uharriet: had no comments. 
 
Building Department Representative, Fred Cullum: asked about the height of the room in the 
middle section of the house (15 ft.) and brought up challenges related to heating, energy 
efficiency, and insulation.  He also asked about the structural and framing plans for remodeling 
the barn building and its foundation.  The Building Official and the applicant discussed several 
options for completing the project under the current building codes.  Senior Planner, Katie 
Herlihy, pointed out that if the final plan is going to involve taking the historic structure apart and 
putting it back together, they would need to put together a preservation plan that would be 
subject to Planning Commission approval.  

 

Local Architect, Frank Phanton: pointed out that the roof plan still included stairs to a loft from a 
previous version of the plan that needed to be removed.   
 
Assistant Planner, Matt Orbach: read the key components of the Archives and Architecture third 
party historic review of the project to the committee.  The report described the defining historical 
characteristics of the barn that should be preserved and made three recommendations related 

6.B

Packet Pg. 46



 
 

 

to: removing the round window that is proposed for the front of the building on the second story, 
adding notes about the historic nature of the structure to the front of the plans, and adding notes 
to the plans identifying the window, door, and skylight materials to be used.  The applicant’s 
representative, Dennis Norton, wanted to go on record saying that he and the applicant 
disagreed with the recommendation to remove the proposed round window, pointing out that 
much of the existing structure has been modified over time and that the addition of the antique 
wood frame window being proposed enhances the design of the structure.  Local architect 
Frank Phanton expressed support for the round window.  
 
Following the Architectural and Site Review hearing, the applicant submitted revised plans 
which addressed the committee’s comments, adding the required window, door, and skylight 
notes to the plans, and removing the stairwell from the roof plan, but leaving the round window 
in the gable-end. 
 
DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS 
The proposed barn conversion complies with all development standards for an accessory 
dwelling unit in the R-1 (Single- Family Residential) zoning district with the removal of the 
second story loft, as outlined in the following table:  

 
R-1 (Single Family Residential) Zoning District 

 

Stories 

Maximum Number of Stories: 1 Story  
(Secondary Dwelling Unit) 

1 story 
Existing loft to be removed 

Development Standards 

Existing Building Height R-1 Regulation 
(Secondary Structures) 

Proposed 

Existing Garage 15 ft. 17 ft. 9 in. 
Existing Nonconforming. 

New Detached Garage 15 ft. with a max top of wall 
plate of 9 ft. 

10 ft.  
7.5 ft. top of wall plate 

Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 

Lot Size 8,000 sq. ft. 

Maximum Floor Area Ratio 60% (Max 4,800 sq. ft.) 

 Main House Floor Area 2,815 sq. ft. 

 Garage Conversion to Secondary Dwelling Unit 580 sq. ft. (Complies) 

New Garage 236 sq. ft.  

   TOTAL FAR 45% (3,631 sq. ft.) 

Yards (setbacks are measured from the edge of the public right-of-way) 

 R-1 Regulation Existing and Proposed  

Secondary Dwelling Unit (Detached Garage Conversion) 

Front Yard 15 ft. 69 ft. 

Side Yard 5 ft. 0 ft. 
Existing Non-Conforming 

Rear Yard 8 ft. 0 ft. 
Existing Non-Conforming 

New Detached Garage 

Front Yard  40 ft. 55 ft. 

Side Yard  3 ft. 6 ft. 

Rear Yard  8 ft. 21 ft. 10 in. 

6.B

Packet Pg. 47



 
 

 

Encroachments (list all)  Existing barn/garage 
encroaches in the rear and 
side setbacks. 

Parking 

 Required Proposed 

Residential (from 2,600 up to 
4,000 sq. ft.) 

4 spaces total 
1 covered 
3 uncovered 

4 spaces total 
1 covered 
3 uncovered 

Underground Utilities: required with 25% increase in 
area 

Not Required 

 
DISCUSSION 
The existing residence at 1725 48th Avenue is an historic two-story single-family residence with 
an existing nonconforming, historic, two-story barn/garage located on the rear and side property 
lines at the southwest corner of the parcel.  The barn is an existing non-conforming structure 
due to its location within the required setbacks.  The applicant is proposing to convert the 
existing historic barn into a single-story Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) and add a new single 
car garage in front of the barn.  It is surrounded by one- and two-story single-family homes.   
 
In the original application, the proposed ADU had a stairway to the existing loft area on the 
second story, but ADUs are limited to one story.  Also, the maximum floor area allowed for an 
ADU on an 8,000 square foot lot is 640 square feet and the first-floor area is 580 square feet.  
With the loft and the stairway added to the floor area, it exceeded the 640 square feet, so they 
were removed. 
 
Conditional Use Permit 
A conditional use permit is required for a modification to a historic structure.  The City 
contracted Archives and Architecture to review the application for consistency with the 
Secretary of Interior Standards.  In the analysis, the architectural historian created a list of 
character-defining features, including: the wide rectangular footprint; the low base; the tall, 
narrow, two-story center element with its gabled roof; the narrow rake eaves; and the broad 
expanses of horizontal lap siding.  It was also noted that many of the materials are not original 
and that many alterations and modifications have been made.  
 
The Archive and Architecture review includes the following recommendations: 

1. It is recommended that the round gable-end window be omitted, as it has the capacity to 
be understood as an original feature and create a sense of false historicism (Standard 
3). 

2. It is recommended that language on the cover sheet should refer to the property as an 
Historic Resource, requiring review of all design revisions, and that the project should 
include notes how the existing historic elements are to be protected and preserved 
during construction (Standards 6 and 7). 

3. It is recommended that the window, door, and skylight materials be specified in notes or 
by schedule (Standard 9). 

 
As mentioned in the Architectural and Site review committee comments, the applicant modified 
the plans to incorporate suggestion two and three on the plans.  The applicant is asking the 
Planning Commission to consider the allowance of the round window in the gable end, although 
not recommended by the Architectural Historian.  Standard 3 of the Secretary of the Interior’s 
Standards for Rehabilitation states that “changes that create a false sense of historical 
development, such as adding conjectural features or architectural elements from other historic 

6.B

Packet Pg. 48



 
 

 

properties, will not be undertaken.”  Based on this standard, and the Archive and Architecture 
recommendation, staff cannot support the introduction of the round window to the gable end. 
 
Preservation Plan 
Following the Architectural and Site review committee meeting, the applicant submitted a 
preservation plan that proposes two options be given to the applicant: (1) disassemble the 
historic barn, catalog and save existing exterior materials, install a foundation and framing, and 
then reassemble the exterior materials, or (2) rebuild the structure from the inside, keeping the 
exterior of the structure intact.  The applicant also proposed that three conditions be attached to 
the design permit: 
 

1. Existing siding to be removed (as needed) and carefully stored to be reused after 
building has been sheared and waterproofed with priority given to area visible from the 
public street. 

2. New siding (where needed) shall be to the same dimensions and surface texture as the 
existing siding and used only where existing siding is insufficient to cover.   

3. Existing trim and details will be maintained and reused as noted in submitted plans, as 
much as possible. 

 
The Planning Commission has the discretion in issuing the design permit to require the 
recommended historic preservation of stabilizing the structure in place or may allow the 
applicant to disassemble and reassemble the building as proposed in option 1. Staff will request 
direction from the Planning Commission during the hearing on the preservation method.   
 
Non-conforming Structure 
The existing barn is non-conforming as it does not comply with the side- and rear-yard setback.  
Pursuant to code section 17.72.070, an existing non-complying structure that will be improved 
beyond 80% of the present fair market value of the structure, may not be made unless the 
structure is brought into compliance with the current zoning regulations.  The remodel will not 
exceed the 80% maximum. 
 
CEQA 
Section 15303(e) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts accessory structures including garages.  No 
adverse environmental impacts were discovered during review of the proposed project.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission review the application and approve project 
application #17-0403 with the omission of the round window in the gable end.     
 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1. The project approval consists of the conversion of an existing historic barn into an 

Accessory Dwelling Unit and construction of a new single-car garage. The maximum 
Floor Area Ratio for the 8,000 square foot property is 60% (4,800 square feet) with the 
addition of the accessory dwelling unit.  The total FAR of the project is 45% with a total 
of 3,631 square feet, compliant with the maximum FAR within the zone. The staircase 
and lodge will be removed to comply with the secondary dwelling unit single story limit 
and 540 square feet maximum floor area. The proposed project is approved as indicated 
on the final plans reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission on April 5, 2018, 
except as modified through conditions imposed by the Planning Commission during the 
hearing. 
 

6.B

Packet Pg. 49



 
 

 

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or 
modifications to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be 
consistent with the plans approved by the Planning Commission.  All construction and 
site improvements shall be completed according to the approved plans 
 

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be 
printed in full on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  
 

4. At time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail SMP STRM 
shall be printed in full and incorporated as a sheet into the construction plans.  All 
construction shall be done in accordance with the Public Works Standard Detail BMP 
STRM.   

 
5. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically 

requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any 
significant changes to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require 
Planning Commission approval.   
 

6. Prior to issuance of building permit, a final landscape plan shall be submitted and 
approved by the Community Development Department.  Landscape plans shall reflect 
the Planning Commission approval and shall identify type, size, and location of species 
and details of irrigation systems.   

 
7. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #17-0403 

shall be paid in full. 
 

8. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan 
approval by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel 
Creek Water District, and Central Fire Protection District.   
 

9. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion 
control plan, shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works.  The plans 
shall be in compliance with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code 
Chapter 13.16 Storm Water Pollution Prevention and Protection. 
 

10. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater 
management plan to the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements 
all applicable Post Construction Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard 
Details, including all standards relating to low impact development (LID). 

 
11. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading 

official to verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan.  
 

12. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired 
by the contractor performing the work.  No material or equipment storage may be placed 
in the road right-of-way. 
 

13. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise 
curfew, except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City.  
Construction noise shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty 
a.m. on weekdays. Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the 

6.B

Packet Pg. 50



 
 

 

exception of Saturday work between nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work 
approved by the building official. §9.12.010B 
 

14. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches, curb, gutter, or 
sidewalk shall be replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction 
of the Public Works Department.  All replaced driveway approaches, curb, gutter or 
sidewalk shall meet current Accessibility Standards. 

    
15. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of 

approval shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development 
Director.  Upon evidence of non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable 
municipal code provisions, the applicant shall remedy the non-compliance to the 
satisfaction of the Community Development Director or shall file an application for a 
permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure to remedy a non-
compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation. 
 

16. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance.  The applicant shall have 
an approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent 
permit expiration.  Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to 
expiration pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 
 

17. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the 
applicant to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the 
site on which the approval was granted. 
 

18. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be 
placed out of public view on non-collection days.  

 
19. The floor area for secondary dwelling unit shall not exceed 580 square feet as approved 

by the Planning Commission.  
 

20. At time of submittal for building permit review, a water will serve letter for the second 
dwelling unit must be submitted to the City. 
 

21. Before obtaining a building permit for a secondary dwelling unit, the property owner shall 
file with the county recorder a declaration of restrictions containing a reference to the 
deed under which the property was acquired by the present owner and stating that: 
 

a. The secondary dwelling unit shall not be sold separately; 
b. The unit is restricted to the approved size; 
c. The administrative review or the design permit, whichever applies, for the 

secondary dwelling unit shall be in effect only so long as the owner of record 
occupies either the main residence or the secondary dwelling unit; 

d. The above declarations are binding upon any successor in ownership of the 
property. Lack of compliance shall be cause for code enforcement and/or 
revoking the administrative review or the architecture and site review permit, 
whichever applies; 

e. The deed restrictions shall lapse upon removal of the secondary dwelling unit. 
 

22. Secretary of the Interior’s Standards and Guidelines for preservation, rehabilitation, 
restoration, or reconstruction shall be followed. 

6.B

Packet Pg. 51

http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.246
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.190
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.110
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.190
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.190
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.190
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.527
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.190
http://www.codepublishing.com/ca/capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.190


 
 

 

a. Any removal of existing building materials or features on historic buildings shall 
be approved by the Community Development Department prior to removal. 

b. The applicant and/or contractor shall field verify all existing conditions on historic 
buildings and match replacement elements and materials according to the 
approved plans.  Any discrepancies found between approved plans, replacement 
features and existing elements must be reported to the Community Development 
Department for further direction, prior to construction. 

 
FINDINGS 

A. The project, subject to the conditions imposed, secures the purposes of the 
Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the project. The proposed conversion of an 
existing historic barn into an Accessory Dwelling Unit and construction of a new single-
car garage complies with the development standards of the R-1 (Single-Family) District.  
Specifically, all of the requirements of Capitola Municipal Code §17.99.050 have been 
met.  The project secures the purpose of the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local 
Coastal Plan 

 
B. The project will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 

Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the application for the conversion of an existing 
historic barn into an Accessory Dwelling Unit and construction of a new single-car 
garage.  The design of the garage, with its bead board siding and composite shingle 
roof, will fit in nicely with the historic house and barn and the existing neighborhood. The 
project will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood.   

 
C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15303(e) of the California 

Environmental Quality Act and is subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 
Section 15303(e) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts accessory structures including 
garages. This project involves the conversion of an existing historic barn into an 
Accessory Dwelling Unit and construction of a new single-car garage within the R-1 
(Single-Family) zoning district. No adverse environmental impacts were discovered 
during review of the proposed project.  

 

Coastal Findings 
D. Findings Required 

1. A coastal permit shall be granted only upon adoption of specific written factual 
findings supporting the conclusion that the proposed development conforms to 
the certified Local Coastal Program, including, but not limited to: 

a. A statement of the individual and cumulative burdens imposed on public 
access and recreation opportunities based on applicable factors identified 
pursuant to subsection (D)(2) of this section. The type of affected public 
access and recreation opportunities shall be clearly described; 

b. An analysis based on applicable factors identified in subsection (D)(2) of this 
section of the necessity for requiring public access conditions to find the 
project consistent with the public access provisions of the Coastal Act; 

c. A description of the legitimate governmental interest furthered by any access 
conditioned required; 

6.B

Packet Pg. 52



 
 

 

d. An explanation of how imposition of an access dedication requirement 
alleviates the access burdens identified. 

• The proposed development conforms to the City’s certified Local 
Coastal Plan (LCP).  The specific, factual findings, as per CMC Section 
17.46.090(D) are as follows: 

 
2. Require Project-Specific Findings. In determining any requirement for public 

access, including the type of access and character of use, the city shall 
evaluate and document in written findings the factors identified in subsections 
(D)(2)(a) through (e), to the extent applicable. The findings shall explain the 
basis for the conclusions and decisions of the city and shall be supported by 
substantial evidence in the record. If an access dedication is required as a 
condition of approval, the findings shall explain how the adverse effects which 
have been identified will be alleviated or mitigated by the dedication. As used in 
this section, “cumulative effect” means the effect of the individual project in 
combination with the effects of past projects, other current projects, and 
probable future projects, including development allowed under applicable 
planning and zoning. 

a. Project Effects on Demand for Access and Recreation. Identification of 
existing and open public access and coastal recreation areas and facilities in 
the regional and local vicinity of the development. Analysis of the project’s 
effects upon existing public access and recreation opportunities. Analysis of 
the project’s cumulative effects upon the use and capacity of the identified 
access and recreation opportunities, including public tidelands and beach 
resources, and upon the capacity of major coastal roads from subdivision, 
intensification or cumulative buildout. Projection for the anticipated demand 
and need for increased coastal access and recreation opportunities for the 
public. Analysis of the contribution of the project’s cumulative effects to any 
such projected increase. Description of the physical characteristics of the site 
and its proximity to the sea, tideland viewing points, upland recreation areas, 
and trail linkages to tidelands or recreation areas. Analysis of the importance 
and potential of the site, because of its location or other characteristics, for 
creating, preserving or enhancing public access to tidelands or public 
recreation opportunities; 

 

• The proposed project is located at 1725 48th Avenue.  The home is not 
located in an area with coastal access.  The home will not have an 
effect on public trails or beach access. 

 
b. Shoreline Processes. Description of the existing shoreline conditions, 

including beach profile, accessibility and usability of the beach, history of 
erosion or accretion, character and sources of sand, wave and sand 
movement, presence of shoreline protective structures, location of the line of 
mean high tide during the season when the beach is at its narrowest 
(generally during the late winter) and the proximity of that line to 
existing structures, and any other factors which substantially characterize or 
affect the shoreline processes at the site. Identification of anticipated changes 
to shoreline processes at the site. Identification of anticipated changes to 
shoreline processes and beach profile unrelated to the proposed 
development. Description and analysis of any reasonably likely changes, 
attributable to the primary and cumulative effects of the project, to: wave and 

6.B

Packet Pg. 53

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.650
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.650


 
 

 

sand movement affecting beaches in the vicinity of the project; the profile of 
the beach; the character, extent, accessibility and usability of the beach; and 
any other factors which characterize or affect beaches in the vicinity. Analysis 
of the effect of any identified changes of the project, alone or in combination 
with other anticipated changes, will have upon the ability of the public 
to use public tidelands and shoreline recreation areas; 

 

• The proposed project is located along 48th Avenue.  No portion of the 
project is located along the shoreline or beach. 

 
c. Historic Public Use. Evidence of use of the site by members of the general 

public for a continuous five-year period (such use may be seasonal). Evidence 
of the type and character of use made by the public (vertical, lateral, blufftop, 
etc., and for passive and/or active recreational use, etc.). Identification of 
any agency (or person) who has maintained and/or improved the area subject 
to historic public use and the nature of the maintenance performed and 
improvements made. Identification of the record owner of the area historically 
used by the public and any attempts by the owner to prohibit public use of the 
area, including the success or failure of those attempts. Description of the 
potential for adverse impact on public use of the area from the proposed 
development (including but not limited to, creation of physical or psychological 
impediments to public use); 

 

• There is not a history of public use on the subject lot. 
 

d. Physical Obstructions. Description of any physical aspects of the development 
which block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along the tidelands, 
public recreation areas, or other public coastal resources or to see the 
shoreline; 

 

• The proposed project is located on private property on 48th Avenue.  
The project will not block or impede the ability of the public to get to or 
along the tidelands, public recreation areas, or views to the shoreline. 

 
e. Other Adverse Impacts on Access and Recreation. Description of the 

development’s physical proximity and relationship to the shoreline and any 
public recreation area. Analysis of the extent of which buildings, walls, 
signs, streets or other aspects of the development, individually or 
cumulatively, are likely to diminish the public’s use of tidelands or lands 
committed to public recreation. Description of any alteration of the aesthetic, 
visual or recreational value of public use areas, and of any diminution of the 
quality or amount of recreational use of public lands which may be attributable 
to the individual or cumulative effects of the development. 

 

• The proposed project is located on private property that will not impact 
access and recreation.  The project does not diminish the public’s use 
of tidelands or lands committed to public recreation nor alter the 
aesthetic, visual, or recreational value of public use areas. 

 
3. Required Findings for Public Access Exceptions. Any determination that one of 

the exceptions of subsection (F)(2) applies to a development shall be supported 

6.B

Packet Pg. 54

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.050
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.090
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.110
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.620
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690


 
 

 

by written findings of fact, analysis and conclusions which address all of the 
following: 

a. The type of access potentially applicable to the site involved (vertical, 
lateral, bluff top, etc.) and its location in relation to the fragile coastal resource 
to be protected, the agricultural use, the public safety concern, or the military 
facility which is the basis for the exception, as applicable; 

b. Unavailability of any mitigating measures to manage the type, character, 
intensity, hours, season or location of such use so that agricultural resources, 
fragile coastal resources, public safety, or military security, as applicable, are 
protected; 

c. Ability of the public, through another reasonable means, to reach the same 
area of public tidelands as would be made accessible by an accessway on the 
subject land. 

 

• The project is not requesting a Public Access Exception, therefore 
these findings do not apply. 

 
4. Findings for Management Plan Conditions. Written findings in support of a 

condition requiring a management plan for regulating the time and manner or 
character of public access use must address the following factors, as 
applicable: 

a. Identification and protection of specific habitat values including the reasons 
supporting the conclusions that such values must be protected by limiting the 
hours, seasons, or character of public use; 

 

• The project is located in a residential area without sensitive habitat 
areas. 

 
b. Topographic constraints of the development site; 

 

• The project is located on a flat lot. 
 

c. Recreational needs of the public; 
 

• The project does not impact the recreational needs of the public. 
 

d. Rights of privacy of the landowner which could not be mitigated by setting the 
project back from the access way or otherwise conditioning the development; 

e. The requirements of the possible accepting agency, if an offer of dedication is 
the mechanism for securing public access; 

f. Feasibility of adequate setbacks, fencing, landscaping, and other methods as 
part of a management plan to regulate public use. 

 
5. Project complies with public access requirements, including submittal of 

appropriate legal documents to ensure the right of public access whenever, 
and as, required by the certified land use plan and Section 17.46.010 (coastal 
access requirements); 

 

• No legal documents to ensure public access rights are required for the 
proposed project. 

 

6.B

Packet Pg. 55

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.093
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.050
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/html/Capitola17/Capitola1746.html#17.46.010


 
 

 

6. Project complies with visitor-serving and recreational use policies; 
 

SEC. 30222 
The use of private lands suitable for visitor-serving commercial recreational 
facilities designed to enhance public opportunities for coastal recreation shall 
have priority over private residential, general industrial, or general commercial 
development, but not over agriculture or coastal-dependent industry. 

 

• The project involves the conversion of an existing historic barn into an 
Accessory Dwelling Unit and construction of a new single-car garage 
on a residential lot of record. 

 

SEC. 30223 
Upland areas necessary to support coastal recreational uses shall be reserved 
for such uses, where feasible. 
 

• The project involves the conversion of an existing historic barn into an 
Accessory Dwelling Unit and construction of a new single-car garage 
on a residential lot of record. 

 
c) Visitor-serving facilities that cannot be feasibly located in existing developed 
areas shall be located in existing isolated developments or at selected points of 
attraction for visitors. 
 

• The project involves the conversion of an existing historic barn into an 
Accessory Dwelling Unit and construction of a new single-car garage 
on a residential lot of record. 

 
7. Project complies with applicable standards and requirements for provision of 

public and private parking, pedestrian access, alternate means of 
transportation and/or traffic improvements; 

 

• The project involves the conversion of an existing historic barn into an 
Accessory Dwelling Unit and construction of a new single-car garage 
on a residential lot of record.  The project complies with applicable 
standards and requirements for provision for parking, pedestrian 
access, alternate means of transportation, and/or traffic improvements. 

 
8. Review of project design, site plan, signing, lighting, landscaping, etc., by the 

city’s architectural and site review committee, and compliance with adopted 
design guidelines and standards, and review committee recommendations; 

 

• The project complies with the design guidelines and standards 
established by the Municipal Code. 

 
9. Project complies with LCP policies regarding protection of public landmarks, 

protection or provision of public views; and shall not block or detract from 
public views to and along Capitola’s shoreline; 

 

6.B

Packet Pg. 56

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.090


 
 

 

• The project will not negatively impact public landmarks and/or public 
views. The project will not block or detract from public views to and 
along Capitola’s shoreline. 

 
10. Demonstrated availability and adequacy of water and sewer services; 

 

• The project is located on a legal lot of record with available water and 
sewer services. 

 
11. Provisions of minimum water flow rates and fire response times; 

 

• The project is located a short distance from the Capitola fire 
department. Water is available at the location. 

 
12. Project complies with water and energy conservation standards; 

 

• The project is for the conversion of an existing historic barn into an 
Accessory Dwelling Unit and construction of a new single-car garage 
on a residential lot of record.  The GHG emissions for the project are 
projected at less than significant impact. All water fixtures must comply 
with the low-flow standards of the Soquel Creek Water District. 

 
13. Provision of park dedication, school impact, and other fees as may be required; 

 

• The project will be required to pay appropriate fees prior to building 
permit issuance. 

 
14. Project complies with coastal housing policies, and applicable ordinances 

including condominium conversion and mobile home ordinances; 
 

• The project does not involve a condo conversion or mobile homes. 
 
15. Project complies with natural resource, habitat, and archaeological protection 

policies; 
 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with 
established policies. 

 
16. Project complies with Monarch butterfly habitat protection policies; 

 

• The project is outside of any identified sensitive habitats, specifically 
areas where Monarch Butterflies have been encountered, identified 
and documented. 

 
17. Project provides drainage and erosion and control measures to protect marine, 

stream, and wetland water quality from urban runoff and erosion; 
 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with 
applicable erosion control measures. 

 

6.B

Packet Pg. 57



 
 

 

18. Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified professional for 
projects in seismic areas, geologically unstable areas, or coastal bluffs, and 
project complies with hazard protection policies including provision of 
appropriate setbacks and mitigation measures; 

 

• The project is not located in seismic areas, geologically unstable 
areas, or coastal bluffs.  Conditions of approval have been included to 
ensure the project applicant shall comply with all applicable 
requirements of the most recent version of the California Building 
Standards Code. 

 
19. All other geological, flood and fire hazards are accounted for and mitigated in 

the project design; 
 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project 
complies with geological, flood, and fire hazards and are accounted for 
and will be mitigated in the project design. 

 
20. Project complies with shoreline structure policies; 

 

• The proposed project is not located along a shoreline. 
 
21. The uses proposed are consistent with the permitted or conditional uses of the 

zoning district in which the project is located; 
 

• This use is an allowed use consistent with the Single-Family zoning 
district. 

 
22. Conformance to requirements of all other city ordinances, zoning requirements, 

and project review procedures; and 
 

• The project conforms to the requirements of all city ordinances, zoning 
requirements, and project development review and development 
procedures. 

 
23. Project complies with the Capitola parking permit program as follows: 

a. The village area preferential parking program areas and conditions as 
established in Resolution No. 2596 and no permit parking of any kind shall be 
allowed on Capitola Avenue. 

b. The neighborhood preferential parking program areas are as established in 
Resolution Numbers 2433 and 2510. 

c. The village area preferential parking program shall be limited to three hundred 
fifty permits. 

d. Neighborhood permit areas are only in force when the shuttle bus is operating 
except that: 

i. The Fanmar area (Resolution No. 2436) program may operate year-
round, twenty-four hours a day on weekends, 

ii. The Burlingame, Cliff Avenue/Grand Avenue area (Resolution No. 
2435) have year-round, twenty-four hour per day “no public parking.” 

e. Except as specifically allowed under the village parking program, no 
preferential residential parking may be allowed in the Cliff Drive parking areas. 

6.B

Packet Pg. 58

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.093
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.650
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690


 
 

 

f. Six Depot Hill twenty-four minute “Vista” parking spaces (Resolution No. 2510) 
shall be provided as corrected in Exhibit A attached to the ordinance codified 
in this section and found on file in the office of the city clerk. 

g. A limit of fifty permits for the Pacific Cove parking lot may be issued to village 
permit holders and transient occupancy permit holders. 

h. No additional development in the village that intensifies use and requires 
additional parking shall be permitted. Changes in use that do not result in 
additional parking demand can be allowed and exceptions for onsite parking 
as allowed in the land use plan can be made. 

 

• The project site is not located within the area of the Capitola parking 
permit program. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Attachment 1 - 1725 48th Ave - Full Plan Set - Letter 
2. Attachment 2 - 1725 48th Ave - Historic Report 
3. Attachment 3 - 48th Ave - 1725 - Preservation Plan Proposal 

 
Prepared By: Matt Orbach 
  Assistant Planner 

6.B

Packet Pg. 59

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.520
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.510
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690


6.B.1

Packet Pg. 60

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

1 
- 

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 L

et
te

r 
 (

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



6.B.1

Packet Pg. 61

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

1 
- 

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 L

et
te

r 
 (

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



6.B.1

Packet Pg. 62

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

1 
- 

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 L

et
te

r 
 (

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



6.B.1

Packet Pg. 63

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

1 
- 

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 L

et
te

r 
 (

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



6.B.1

Packet Pg. 64

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

1 
- 

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 L

et
te

r 
 (

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



6.B.1

Packet Pg. 65

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

1 
- 

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 L

et
te

r 
 (

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



6.B.1

Packet Pg. 66

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

1 
- 

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 L

et
te

r 
 (

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



6.B.1

Packet Pg. 67

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

1 
- 

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 L

et
te

r 
 (

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



6.B.1

Packet Pg. 68

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

1 
- 

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 L

et
te

r 
 (

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



6.B.1

Packet Pg. 69

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

1 
- 

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 L

et
te

r 
 (

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



6.B.1

Packet Pg. 70

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

1 
- 

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 L

et
te

r 
 (

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



6.B.1

Packet Pg. 71

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

1 
- 

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 L

et
te

r 
 (

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



6.B.1

Packet Pg. 72

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

1 
- 

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 L

et
te

r 
 (

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



6.B.1

Packet Pg. 73

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

1 
- 

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
 -

 F
u

ll 
P

la
n

 S
et

 -
 L

et
te

r 
 (

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



 
 

 

 
 

 
 

SECRETARY OF THE INTERIOR’S STANDARDS REVIEW 
 
PROPOSED BARN REHABILITATION AND ADDITION PROJECT 
 
at an 
 
HISTORIC RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY 
 
 
 
Adams Residence 
 
1725 48th Avenue 
(Parcel Number 034-22-041) 
Capitola, Santa Cruz County, California 
 
 
 
For: 
 
Attn: Katie Herlihy, AICP, Senior Planner 
City of Capitola 
420 Capitola Avenue 
Capitola, CA 95010 
 
Prepared by: 
 
A R C H I V E S  &  A R C H I T E C T U R E  L L C  

PO Box 1332 
San Jose, CA  95109 
408.369.5683 Vox 
www.archivesandarchitecture.com 
 
Leslie A. G. Dill, Partner and Historic Architect 
 
 
March 14, 2018 

6.B.2

Packet Pg. 74

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

2 
- 

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
 -

 H
is

to
ri

c 
R

ep
o

rt
  (

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)

http://www.archivesandarchitecture.com/


2 
 

A R C H I V E S  &  A R C H I T E C T U R E  

 

INTRODUCTION 
 
Executive Summary 
With the clarification of window and door materials, the incorporation of one recommended 
revision, and the inclusion of recommended language in the building permit plans, this proposed 
residential rehabilitation and addition project would meet the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards 
for the Treatment of Historic Properties – Rehabilitation Standards (Standards). The 
recommendations are presented here, and the analysis is described more fully in the report that 
follows: 
 

It is recommended that the round gable-end window be omitted, as it has the capacity to be 
understood as an original feature and create a sense of false historicism (Standard 3). 

 
It is recommended that language on the cover sheet should refer to the property as an 
Historic Resource, requiring review of all design revisions, and that the project should 
include notes how the existing historic elements are to be protected and preserved during 
construction (Standards 6 and 7).  
 
It is recommended that the window, door, and skylight materials be specified in notes or by 
schedule (Standard 9). 
 

Report Intent 
Archives & Architecture (A&A) was retained by the City of Capitola to conduct a Secretary of the 
Interior’s Standards Review of the proposed alterations to the exterior of the historic detached one-
and-one-half-story barn at 1725 48th Ave., Capitola, California. A&A was asked to review the 
exterior elevations, plans, and site plan of the project to determine if the proposed design is 
compatible with the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation (Standards). The 
Standards are understood to be a common set of guidelines for the review of historic buildings and 
are used by many communities during the environmental review process to determine the 
potential impact of a project on an identified resource.  
 
Qualifications   
Leslie A. G. Dill, Partner of the firm Archives & Architecture, has a Master of Architecture with a 
certificate in Historic Preservation from the University of Virginia. She is licensed in California as an 
architect. Ms. Dill is listed with the California Office of Historic Preservation as meeting the 
requirements to perform identification, evaluation, registration, and treatment activities within the 
professions of Historic Architect and Architectural Historian in compliance with state and federal 
environmental laws. The state utilizes the criteria of the National Park Service as outlined in 36 CFR 
Part 61. 
 
Review Methodology 
For this report, Leslie Dill referred to the historic survey listing of the residence in the Capitola 
Architectural Survey (Survey). The listing refers to the architecture of the main house, but it is 
generally understood and accepted that the barn relates to the period of significance of the 
property and should be included in the Standards review analysis. The Survey address includes a 
typo (reading 1725 38th Avenue, instead of 48th Avenue); however, the photograph and 
description clearly refers to the subject property. 
 

6.B.2

Packet Pg. 75

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

2 
- 

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
 -

 H
is

to
ri

c 
R

ep
o

rt
  (

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



3 
 

A R C H I V E S  &  A R C H I T E C T U R E  

 

  
2005 Capitola Architectural Survey – (Note Typo in the Address) 

 
In October, Ms. Dill met with City of Capitola staff, the architect, and the owners of 1725 48th 
Avenue met at the site to discuss the parameters of the project. At the end of November, a set of 
proposed plans, dated 11/28/17, were forwarded for initial response. The plans were prepared by 
Dennis Norton, Home Design and Project Planning. A&A provided comments and suggestions in the 
form of a memo dated December 8, 2017. The design was subsequently revised and electronically 
forwarded in January, whereupon Ms. Dill requested some additional materials clarification be 
included in the submittal. For this report, A&A evaluated, according to the Standards, a set of prints 
that included Sheets 1, 1A, 2, 4, 5, 6, 8, 9, 11, the BMP, and a property survey. 
 
 

            
 

2017 Photos of House and Barn by Leslie Dill 
 
Disclaimers 
This report addresses the project plans in terms of historically compatible design of the exterior of 
the residence and its setting. The consultant has not undertaken and will not undertake an 
evaluation or report on the structural conditions or other related safety hazards that might or 
might not exist at the site and building, and will not review the proposed project for structural 
soundness or other safety concerns. The Consultant has not undertaken analysis of the site to 
evaluate the potential for subsurface resources. 
 
 
 

6.B.2

Packet Pg. 76

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

2 
- 

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
 -

 H
is

to
ri

c 
R

ep
o

rt
  (

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



4 
 

A R C H I V E S  &  A R C H I T E C T U R E  

 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION: 
 
Character of the Existing Resource 
The main house is identified in the historic survey, with limited description. To review the design of 
the proposed barn rehabilitation and addition project, Archives & Architecture, LLC created an 
initial in-house list of character-defining features of the outbuilding and main house. The list of 
features of the barn includes, but may not be limited to: the wide rectangular footprint; the low 
base; the tall, narrow, two-story center element with its gabled roof; the somewhat asymmetrical 
one-story shed-roof side wings; the exposed skip sheathing at the narrow rake eaves; the exposed 
rafter tails and outer fascia board at the side eaves; the broad expanses of horizontal lap siding; the 
flat-board corner boards. The swinging siding-clad doors at the north corner of the front (east) 
façade certainly include historic fabric but may have been altered over time. There are barn doors 
stored within the building. The design of the historic barn is minimal; each of these historical 
elements has a disproportionate significance because there are so few. 
 
The garage doors are an alteration, as is the rear window.  The south wall has been modified with 
exterior plywood. The roofing materials are not original. An arbor has been attached to the north 
side of the building. 
 
The significance of the main house is based on its distinctive early Craftsman influences, including 
the full-depth gabled roof; shed-roof dormer; shallow bell-cast eaves, heavy knee braces; and 
exposed rafter tails. The windows of the house are multi-pane, including 4/1 single-hung windows, 
paired 2x43 casements in the dormer, and a wide span of glazing that encloses the front sun porch. 
The narrow horizontal wood siding matches the barn siding, and there are shingles in the gable 
ends. The design is horizontal in emphasis, with heavy trim elements and small-scale repetitive 
building finishes. 
 
Summary of the Proposed Project 
The existing barn and its second-story loft are proposed to be altered for use as living space. The 
proposed rehabilitation will preserve the original form of the roof and walls of the barn while 
adding new windows and doors. The proposed design includes the addition of a new one-story, 
one-car garage extending to the front of the property from the front of the historic barn. This garage 
will be connected to the historic barn by a breezeway roof.  
 
SECRETARY’S STANDARD’S REVIEW: 
 
The Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation (Standards), originally published in 1977 
and revised in 1990, include ten standards that present a recommended approach to repair, while 
preserving those portions or features that convey a resource’s historical, cultural, or architectural 
values. Accordingly, Standards states that, “Rehabilitation is defined as the act or process of making 
possible a compatible use for a property through repair, alterations, and additions while preserving 
those portions or features which convey its historical, cultural, or architectural values.” Following is 
a summary of the review with a list of the Standards and associated analysis for this project: 
 
1. “A property will be used as it was historically or be given a new use that requires 

minimal change to its distinctive materials, features, spaces, and spatial 
relationships.” 

 
 Analysis: There is no effective change of use proposed for this residential property, 

although there is some intensification of use with the inclusion of a secondary unit within 
the barn. 

6.B.2

Packet Pg. 77

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

2 
- 

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
 -

 H
is

to
ri

c 
R

ep
o

rt
  (

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



5 
 

A R C H I V E S  &  A R C H I T E C T U R E  

 

 
 As a rule of thumb, a project that meets the subsequent nine Standards can be considered to 

meet this Standard as well. A proposed project that preserves significant historic fabric, 
provides a compatible new design, and is potentially reversible in the future can be 
considered to have a compatible use. In this case, the project does meet those Standards, so 
the use can be considered compatible. 

 
2. “The historic character of a property shall be retained and preserved. The removal of 

historic materials or alteration of features, spaces, and spatial relationships that 
characterize a property will be avoided.” 

 
 Analysis: No historic massing of the barn is proposed for removal; the forms and footprints 

of the historic property will be preserved. Almost all the historic fabric will be preserved; 
only where the windows are proposed will the siding be removed. The raised central roof 
and side shed roofs will be preserved in this project. 

 
 The placement of the one-story new garage preserves adequate space surrounding the 

historic house. It continues to visually appear as a separate single-family residence, with 
setbacks on all sides.  

 
 The proposed new garage is separated from the historic barn by a low breezeway, 

preserving the autonomy of the historic and new outbuilding spaces. 
 
3. “Each property will be recognized as a physical record of its time, place, and use. 

Changes that create a false sense of historical development, such as adding 
conjectural features or architectural elements from other historic properties, will not 
be undertaken.” 

 
 Analysis: There is one proposed change that has the potential of being mistaken for an 

original feature. The form and location of the round accent window in the center of the front 
gable end draws considerable attention to an element that is not historically accurate. 
Because the building is so modest, the round window added to the façade design would 
have a relatively prominent presence. It is recommended that this window be omitted. 

 
 All other new elements have adequate differentiation and are neither conjectural nor 

borrowed from other designs (See also Standard 9). 
 
4. “Changes to a property that have acquired historic significance in their own right will 

be retained and preserved.” 
 
 Analysis: It is understood that no existing changes to the barn have acquired historic 

significance in their own right. 
 
5. “Distinctive materials, features, finishes, and construction techniques or examples of 

craftsmanship that characterize a property will be preserved.” 
 
 Analysis: Distinctive features and finishes that identify the cottage are shown as preserved 

on the proposed drawings. Specifically, this includes: the rectangular footprint; the low 
base; the gabled center form and the one-story side wings; the original rake eaves with their 
exposed rafter tails and fascia boards; the siding and corner boards. The swinging siding-
clad doors will be preserved and affixed.  

6.B.2

Packet Pg. 78

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

2 
- 

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
 -

 H
is

to
ri

c 
R

ep
o

rt
  (

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



6 
 

A R C H I V E S  &  A R C H I T E C T U R E  

 

 
6. “Deteriorated historic features will be repaired rather than replaced. Where the 

severity of deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new 
feature will match the old in design, color, texture, and, where possible, materials. 
Replacement of missing features will be substantiated by documentary and physical 
evidence.” 

 
 Analysis: The current physical condition of the barn appears visually to be fair, and most 

features are shown as generally preserved in the project drawings.  
 
 It is recommended that general notes be added to the final building permit documents, 

indicating the historic significance of the property, and specifying that all changes to the 
project plans must be reviewed, and noting how the existing historic elements are to be 
protected during construction. 

 
7. “Chemical or physical treatments, if appropriate, will be undertaken using the 

gentlest means possible. Treatments that cause damage to historic materials will not 
be used.” 

 
 Analysis: No chemical or physical treatments are shown as proposed in this project, or 

expected, other than preparation for painting.  
 
 It is recommended that all planned construction techniques be identified during the 

building permit submittal phase.  
 
8. “Archeological resources will be protected and preserved in place. If such resources 

must be disturbed, mitigation measures will be undertaken.” 
 
 Analysis: Archeological resources are not evaluated in this report. 
 
9. “New additions, exterior alterations or related new construction will not destroy 

historic materials, features, and spatial relationships that characterize the property. 
The new work shall be differentiated from the old and will be compatible with the 
historic materials, features, size, scale and proportion, and massing to protect the 
integrity of the property and its environment.” 

 
 Analysis: The proposed alterations and the garage addition are generally compatible with 

the historic character of the barn and main house and differentiated by their detailing and 
form.  

 
 NOTE: The materials of the windows and doors, and the integral color of the skylights, are 

not included in the current set of drawings. Although the illustration of these proposed 
elements in the elevations has the visual appearance of a material, such as wood or painted 
fiberglass, that is in scale with the historic property, no assumptions can be made. It is 
recommended that the materials of the windows and doors be added to the drawings. 

 
 The proposed new one-car garage is compatible in size, form, scale, and materials with the 

historic structures on the property, yet differentiated by massing and size. Its footprint is 
set away from, and to the rear of, the historic main house, allowing the Craftsman-style 
main house to remain predominant in the composition. It is one-story, relatively small, 
narrower, and placed asymmetrically in front of the historic barn, creating a subordinate 

6.B.2

Packet Pg. 79

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

2 
- 

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
 -

 H
is

to
ri

c 
R

ep
o

rt
  (

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



7 
 

A R C H I V E S  &  A R C H I T E C T U R E  

 

massing and allowing the barn to remain visible from the street and remain more 
prominent than the new garage. It is visually separated from the two original buildings, 
demonstrating that it is an addition. The hierarchy of the design is that the front main house 
is largest and most imposing, as well as most intricate in its detailing, the vertically 
designed barn is more modest in massing, although still interesting in its tripartite form, 
and the new garage is smallest and lowest and most modest in its detailing. As per the 
analysis in Standard 2, the spatial setting of the historic house and garage would be 
preserved in this project. 

 
 The design of the proposed garage addition is compatible with the historic barn design 

using matching and similar materials. The historic building and this modest front addition 
will have siding and trim that match the historic siding and trim. The building will have 
consistent modern roofing and a matching set of doors and windows. Although the low 
breezeway roof physically touches the historic barn, the building is clearly an addition, and 
the matching materials would not create a sense of false history. 

 
 The alterations to the historic barn are compatible and differentiated with the historic 

property. The added windows are a traditional size, scale, and operation compatible with 
the windows at the historic house and preserve the sense of utilitarian proportion of the 
historic barn. The placement of the new windows preserves most of the expanses of plain 
walls that is a character-defining feature of the historic barn. The north and south 
elevations remain without windows; the front (east) elevation is proposed to have only one 
window (see Standard 3). The proposed new windows are differentiated from the windows 
at the historic house be their use of fewer panes and their paired design. 

 
 The garage door, shown built of boards and with inset siding panels, is in scale with the 

materials of the historic house and barn, but differentiated by the diagonal bracing. The 
series of skylights at the historic barn is a modern use of glazing, differentiating the new 
materials from the historic palette; however, the size of the skylights is compatible in size to 
the sash of the historic surrounding buildings, and compatible in proportion (solid-to-
opening ratio) with local historic designs. It is recommended that the color of the skylight 
frame be dark (i.e., anodized) to blend into the roofing materials. 

 
10. “New additions and adjacent or related new construction will be undertaken in such 

a manner that, if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the 
historic property and its environment would be unimpaired.” 

 
 Analysis: The proposed design would preserve the essential form and integrity of the 

historic property. The critical character-defining features of the exterior of the barn and 
main house would be unimpaired in this project.  

 
CONCLUSION 
 
After the one minor revision recommended within this report, the proposed rehabilitation project 
would meet the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation. The revision of the front 
gable end accent window is recommended for incorporation into the building permit submittal set. 

6.B.2

Packet Pg. 80

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

2 
- 

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
 -

 H
is

to
ri

c 
R

ep
o

rt
  (

17
25

 4
8t

h
 A

ve
n

u
e)



Capitola City Planning Commission 

City of Capitola 

 

3-26-2018 

RE: 1725  48th Avenue 

 

     First, It is our intension to keep this historic barn intact as much as possible, and complete a rebuild in keeping 
with the Secretary of Interior’s standards. You must understand that this structure is not a habitable residence and 
never has been.  It is truly a horse barn turned into a garage.  It has single wall construction, a dirt floor with a slab 
poured over it, and no foundation.  The exterior siding that you see is not the original siding.   I can never be water 
tight in its construction. To rebuild this structure is nearly impossible and economically impractical. 

      What we are requesting is that we be given a choice during the formulation of this construction project as weather 
to remove the entire structure and rebuild to Secretary of Interior standards, reusing the existing exterior materials. Or 
attempt to rebuild with the saving of the existing structure intact from the inside.  In either case you will end up with 
the exterior  appearance that is shown in the Plan set for 1725  48th Avenue. 

The following conditions shall be attached to this project . 

1. Existing siding to be removed (as needed) and carefully stored to be reused after building has been sheared and 
waterproofed with priority given to area visible from the public street. 

2. New siding ( where needed) shall be to the same dimensions and surface texture as the existing siding and used 
only where existing siding is insufficient to cover 

3. Existing trim and details will be maintained  and reused as noted in Submitted plans, as much as  possible. 

      Thank you for your consideration 

        Michael Adams, Owner 

       Dennis Norton ,  Designer 

 

6.B.3

Packet Pg. 81

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

3 
- 

48
th

 A
ve

 -
 1

72
5 

- 
P

re
se

rv
at

io
n

 P
la

n
 P

ro
p

o
sa

l  
(1

72
5 

48
th

 A
ve

n
u

e)



 

 

 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: APRIL 5, 2018 
 
SUBJECT: 4201 Capitola Road #17-0441 APN: 034-121-36 & 37 
 

Tentative Map for a three-lot subdivision, Design Permit for three new 
single-family homes, Variance request to allow encroachments into 
side yard setbacks, and demolition of two existing structures located at 
4201 Capitola Road within the CN (Neighborhood Commercial) zoning 
district. 
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal 
Development Permit which is not appealable to the California Coastal 
Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted through the City. 
Property Owner: Magnolia Tree Investments 
Representative: Matthew Thompson, Architect.  Filed: 11.09.2017  

 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The applicant is proposing three new single-family homes, demolition of one existing home and 
detached garage, a tentative parcel map for a three-lot subdivision, and a variance for 
encroachments into the side yard setbacks located at 4201 Capitola Road within the CN 
(Neighborhood Commercial) zoning district. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The Architectural and Site Review Committee reviewed the application on January 10th, 2018, 
and provided the applicant with the following direction: 
 
Public Works: No additional comments beyond the standard stormwater conditions.  Minor 
revisions to the proposed tentative map were provided by the Public Works Director to the 
applicant.  
 
Building Official: Building Official Fred Cullum stated that, if there are eaves, they should be 
limited to 18 inches. 

 

Local Architect: Frank Phanton liked the building design but wanted to see some context in 
terms of the location of structures on neighboring properties.  In relation to the variance request, 
Mr. Phanton also stated that, when a City’s design standards conflict with one of his building 
designs, he prefers to “design my way out of it” rather than requesting a variance.  
 
City Planner: Assistant Planner Matt Orbach gave an overview of the project that included an 
analysis of the variance request and why City staff could not support it.   

6.C

Packet Pg. 82



 
 

 

 
Following the Architectural and Site Review hearing, the applicant chose not to submit revised 
plans to address the committee’s comments and to proceed with the variance request.  The 
applicant revised the tentative map based on the Public Works Director’s requests.  
 
ZONING SUMMARY 
The zoning summaries for each of the properties is included as Attachment 5.  The new single-
family homes do not comply with the side yard setbacks of the CN Neighborhood Commercial 
zone due to the first and second story eaves 
 
DISCUSSION 
The existing residence at 4201 Capitola Road is a single-story single-family residence.    The 
applicant is proposing to demolish the existing residence and create a new subdivision with 
three new two-story single-family residences.  They are surrounded by single-family homes in 
the R-1 Single-Family Residential zoning district to the north, two commercial structures to the 
east and west, and Capitola Road to the south.   
 
Design Permit 
House One features horizontal siding, open rafters in the eaves, timber detailing for porch work, 
klinker brick bases at the bases of the porch columns, and clad wood windows.  House Two 
features cement plaster walls with a heavy dashed texture, open rafter in the eaves, and clad 
wood windows with 2x6 rough-sawn wood head, jamb, and sill trim.  House Three features 
cement board shingle siding, open rafters in the eaves, and clad wood windows with 2x6 rough-
sawn wood head, jamb, and sill trim.   
 
Variance 
The applicant is requesting a variance to the design standards for the CN Neighborhood 
Commercial zoning district that would allow the three proposed houses to have roof eaves that 
extend into the required side yard setbacks.   
 
Section 17.66.090 of the Capitola Municipal Code states that the Planning Commission may 
grant a variance permit when it finds: 
 

A. That because of special circumstances applicable to subject property, including size, 
shape, topography, location or surroundings, the strict application of this title is found to 
deprive subject property of privileges enjoyed by other properties in the vicinity and 
under identical zone classification; 

B. That the grant of a variance permit would not constitute a grant of special privilege 
inconsistent with the limitations upon other properties in the vicinity and zone in which 
subject property is situated. 

 
As a policy, staff generally does not support variances to development standards for a 
subdivision project where the applicant has the ability to design lots necessary to accommodate 
reasonably sized and well-designed homes.  The property is regularly shaped, flat, and of 
comparable size (or larger prior to the subdivision) to neighboring properties, and there are no 
unusual physical, topographic, or geometric conditions that exist.   
 
When the plans were originally submitted, staff informed the applicant that no encroachments, 
including eaves, were allowed in the side setbacks for structures in the CN zone.  Instead of 
changing the design of the structures, however, the applicant chose to create a composite street 
view of the structures with the eaves cut off and request a variance.  The variance request 

6.C

Packet Pg. 83



 
 

 

stated that, “if the variance is not granted, the eaves will be eliminated as shown on sheet five of 
the application drawings” (see Attachment 1).   
 
The “special circumstance” listed in the applicant’s letter is that the applicant does not agree 
with the development standards for encroachments for single-family homes in the CN zoning 
district.  The applicant says the variance is justified because “this project is in a single-family 
development within an existing single-family neighborhood but in a zone district with the wrong 
standards for eaves.”  While one of the three lots is adjacent to the R-1 Single-Family 
Residential zoning district, all three lots are located within the CN Neighborhood Commercial 
zoning district, with two commercial structures to the east and west and Capitola Road to the 
south.  The project may border an existing single-family neighborhood, but it is clearly within the 
CN zone and subject to the development standards of that zone.   
 
The applicant also asserts that granting of a variance would not constitute a “special privilege” 
for the property owner because “other single-family houses in the neighborhood have the 
benefit of eaves.”  This assertion is fundamentally flawed, because the other homes in the 
neighborhood he is referring to are in the R-1 Single Family zoning district.  Granting the 
applicant a variance allowing them to have eaves that encroach into side setbacks would, in 
fact, be granting them a special privilege that other properties “in the vicinity and zone in which 
the property is situated,” in this case the CN zone, do not enjoy.   
 
With no lot coverage or floor area ratio restrictions in the CN zone, the applicant should be able 
to design the structures so that they conform to the development standards and incorporate 
aesthetically appealing design elements.  Also, given that this application includes a subdivision, 
a variance request made based on the proposed lots is the result of a self-imposed hardship.  
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission deny the variance request.  
 
Subdivision 
The applicant is proposing to subdivide two lots of record, totaling 9,684 square feet, into three 
new lots and build one new single-family home on each of the newly created lots.  Parcel A will 
be 3,355 square feet, Parcel B will be 3,024 square feet, and Parcel C will be 3,026 square feet.    
The minor subdivision will create three new lots that face 42nd Avenue, with Parcel A also 
bordering Capitola Road.  Together, the two existing parcels are approximately 84 feet wide by 
approximately 113 feet deep.  The existing conditions on APN # 034-121-37 include a single-
family home located on the front half of the lot (near Capitola Road) and a detached garage, 
and APN #034-121-36 is a vacant lot. The tentative parcel map identifies the front southern lot 
as Parcel A, the middle lot as Parcel B, and the rear northern lot as Parcel C.       
 
Lot Area and Dimensions 
The follow table outlines the lot area and dimension requirements for development in the CN 
(Neighborhood Commercial) Zoning District relative to the application.  
 

Lot area and Dimensions 

There is no specific minimum lot area required in the CN zone, except that there shall be 
sufficient area to satisfy any off-street parking and loading area requirements. 

Code Requirements Proposed 

Lot Size: No Minimum Parcel A: 3,355.1 sq. ft.  

Parcel B: 3,024.0 sq. ft.  

Parcel C: 3,026.9 sq. ft.  

Lot Width: No Minimum Parcel A: 40.93 ft. 

Parcel B: 36.00 ft.  

6.C

Packet Pg. 84



 
 

 

Parcel C: 36.07 ft. 

Lot Depth: No Minimum  Parcel A: 84.00 ft.  

Parcel B: 84.00 ft.  

Parcel C: 84.00 ft. 

 
Subdivision Design Standards.  
Subdivision applications are reviewed for compliance with Chapter 16 of the Municipal Code.  
The following analysis includes the underlined design standards for lots (§16.24.170) preceding 
staff analysis:   
 
A. The size and shape of lots shall be in conformance to any zoning regulations effective in the 
area of the proposed subdivision unless an exception is granted by the Planning Commission 
pursuant to section 16.24.170(H).  
Staff Analysis: Within the CN zoning district there are not minimum lot depth, lot width, or lot 
size requirements.  As shown in the table above, the application complies with all zoning 
regulations. 
  
B. The side lines of all lots, so far as possible, shall be at right angles to the street which the lot 
faces, or radial or approximately radial if the street is curved.    
Staff Analysis:  The lots have been designed so that the side lines of all three lots are at right 
angles to 42nd Avenue.    
 
C. The Planning Commission may require that building set back lines shall be indicated by 
dotted lines on the subdivision map.    
Staff Analysis: The tentative parcel map includes the setback lines of the zone for all three lots.   
 
D. No lot shall be divided by a city boundary line.  
Staff Analysis: The entire property is located within the City of Capitola limits. 
 
E. Lots without 20 feet or more of frontage on a street will not be permitted.  Frontage 
requirements for flag lots may be satisfied by a driveway or private road accessing a street of 
twenty feet in width or more.  
Staff Analysis: Each lot has at least 20 feet of frontage along 42nd Avenue.  
 
F. Lots other than corner lots may front on more than one street where necessitated by 
topographic or other unusual conditions. 
Staff Analysis: Not applicable. 
 
G. In riparian corridors no lots may be created which do not contain adequate building area 
outside the riparian or stream setback.   
Staff Analysis: Not applicable. 
 
H.  With the exception of minimum lot size requirements or subsections D and G above, the 
Planning Commission or the City Council may grant an exception to one or more of the design 
standards if they find that strict conformance is impractical due to the site’s physical, 
topographic, or geometric conditions or if it would result in an undesirable or inferior subdivision 
design. 
Staff Analysis: The applicant is not requesting any exceptions for the Tentative Map. 
 
 Arborist Report 

6.C

Packet Pg. 85



 
 

 

There are six trees growing within the proposed project boundaries.  James P. Allen & 
Associates were hired to produce a “Tree Resource Analysis/Construction Impact 
Assessment/Tree Protection Plan.”  The report identifies three trees (two black acacias and one 
walnut) that should be removed due to construction impacts and three trees (one coast 
redwood, one palm, and one black acacia) that should be preserved and protected.  The report 
outlines special treatment and mitigation measures to ensure that the remaining trees are 
protected and that the replacement trees survive.   The arborist recommendations have been 
incorporated into the conditions of approval.   
 
CEQA 
Section 15303(a) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts one single-family residence, or a second 
dwelling unit in a residential zone.  No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during 
review of the proposed project.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission review the application and deny application #17-
0441 without prejudice.     
 
FINDINGS 

A. There are no special circumstances applicable to subject property, such as size, 
shape, topography, location or surroundings, that would deprive the subject 
property of privileges enjoyed by other properties in the vicinity and under the 
same zoning classification. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the project.  There are no special circumstances 
applicable to the subject property, such as size, shape, topography, location, or 
surroundings, that would deprive the subject property of privileges enjoyed by other 
properties in the vicinity and under the same zoning classification.  In addition, the three 
subject properties are being created through a subdivision as part of this project, so any 
special circumstances would be a result of a self-imposed hardship.      

B. The grant of a variance permit would constitute a grant of special privilege 
inconsistent with the limitations upon other properties in the vicinity and zone in 
which subject property is situated. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the project.  All other properties in the 
surrounding CN (Neighborhood Commercial) zone are subject to the setback 
requirements of Capitola Municipal Code §17.24.112 “Side yard setback,” so the grant of 
a variance would constitute a grant of a special privilege inconsistent with limitations 
upon other properties in the vicinity and zone in which the subject properties are 
situated.   

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Attachment 1 - 4201 Capitola Road - Full Plan Set 
2. Attachment 2 - 4201 Capitola Road - Variance Application Letter - 12.02.2017 
3. Attachment 3 - 4201 Capitola Road - Soquel Creek will-serve-letter 3.19.18 
4. Attachment 4 - 4201 Capitola Road - Arborist Report 
5. Attachment 5 - 4201 Capitola Road - Zoning Summary - 3 Houses 
6. Attachment 6 - 4201 Capitola Road - Draft Conditions of Approval 

 
Prepared By: Matt Orbach 
  Assistant Planner 

6.C

Packet Pg. 86



THACHER &
THOMPSON
ARCHITECTS
877 CEDAR STREET SUITE 248

SANTA CRUZ, CA  95060
(831) 457-3939 V
(831) 426-7609 F

www.tntarch.com

SITE PLAN

4201 Capitola
Road -- Three
New Houses

Sam Peterson
14217 Nassau Road
San Leandro, CA 94577

A1

AUGUST 21, 2017

UNAUTHORIZED USE IS PROHIBITED.
LIABILITY TO THE ARCHITECT.
BE THE USER'S RESPONSIBILITY WITHOUT
ELECTRONIC TRANSFER OF DATA SHALL
CONSENT OF THE ARCHITECT.  THE PROPER
REPRODUCED, OR USED WITHOUT THE
SERVICE AND MAY NOT BE ALTERED,
ARCHITECTS.  IT IS AN INSTRUMENT OF
THE PROPERTY OF THACHER & THOMPSON
THE DATA CONTAINED ON THIS SHEET IS

c 2015 THACHER & THOMPSON ARCHITECTS

C 17004
THOMPSON
MATTHEW

AUGUST 31, 2017
EXPIRATION

LI

CENSED ARCHITECT

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PROJECT TEAM

OWNER:  SAM PETERSON
   14217 NASSAU ROAD
   SAN LEANDRO, CA 94577

ARCHITECT:  THACHER & THOMPSON ARCHITECTS
   877 CEDAR STREET, SUITE 248
   SANTA CRUZ, CA 95060

SHEET INDEX

ARCHITECTURAL

A1 SITE PLAN
A2 HOUSE 1
A3 HOUSE 2
A4 HOUSE 3
A5 COMPOSITE ELEVATIONS

PROJECT DATA

ASSESSOR’S PARCEL 034-121-36, 37

SITE AREA  9,684 SF  OR 0.22 ACRES

BUILDING AREAS:

  1ST FLOOR 2ND FLOOR TOTAL

HOUSE #1 1,147 SF 850 SF  1,997 SF
HOUSE #2 1,157  839  1,996
HOUSE #3 1,131  862  1,993
TOTALS 3,435 SF 2,551 SF 5,986 SF

COVERAGE: 3,435 OR 35.5 %

SETBACKS:

FRONT YARD  20’
REAR YARD   17’
1ST FLOOR SIDE YARD 4’
2D FLOOR SIDE YARD 5.5’

SURVEY:                   EDMUNDSON SURVEY
                                1512 SEABRIGHT AVENUE
                                SANTA CRUZ, CA 95062
                                831.425.1796
                                OLIN@EDMUNDSONSURVEYS.COM.

LANDSCAPE:           ELLEN COOPER, LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT
                                612 WINDSOR STREET
                                SANTA CRUZ, CA 95062
                                831.426.6845
                                ECOOPER@BAYMOON.COM

CIVIL ENGINEER GERI MARTIN DALIVA
   11 WEST LAUREL DR. SUITE 225
   SALINAS, CA 93906
   831.840.4284
   GMD.ENGR3@GMAIL.COM

G1.1 GRADING PLAN
L1 PLANTING PLAN
 TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY

42
N

D
   

 A
 V

 E
 N

 U
 E

S I T E    P L A N
SCALE:  1/8”   =   1’ - 0”

C A P I T O L A    R O A D

TYPICAL 6’ TALL 
REDWOOD FENCE
AT PROPERTY LINES 
FOR SIDES AND REAR
YARDS, EAST OF 
HOUSE STAIRWAY

HOUSE #3 

HOUSE #1

HOUSE #2 TYPICAL 14’ X 14’
PATIO

. TYPICAL REARYARD
SETBACK -- 17-0 .

PROPERTY LINE

TYPICAL SIDEYARD
SETBACK -- 4’ AT
FIRST FLOOR

11
3’

41
’

21
’

36
’

36
’

84’

84’

84’

64’

EXISTING TREE

R = 20’

EXISTING REDWOOD TREE
TO REMAIN

OUTLINE OF EXISTING
HOUSE TO BE REMOVED

10
-6

 S
ET

BA
C

K
C

A
PI

T
O

LA
 R

D

REV. 11.29.17

6.C.1

Packet Pg. 87

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

1 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 F

u
ll 

P
la

n
 S

et
  (

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

)



THACHER &
THOMPSON
ARCHITECTS
877 CEDAR STREET SUITE 248

SANTA CRUZ, CA  95060
(831) 457-3939 V
(831) 426-7609 F

www.tntarch.com

HOUSE  1

4201 Capitola
Road -- Three
New Houses

Sam Peterson
14217 Nassau Road
San Leandro, CA 94577

A2

AUGUST 21, 2017

UNAUTHORIZED USE IS PROHIBITED.
LIABILITY TO THE ARCHITECT.
BE THE USER'S RESPONSIBILITY WITHOUT
ELECTRONIC TRANSFER OF DATA SHALL
CONSENT OF THE ARCHITECT.  THE PROPER
REPRODUCED, OR USED WITHOUT THE
SERVICE AND MAY NOT BE ALTERED,
ARCHITECTS.  IT IS AN INSTRUMENT OF
THE PROPERTY OF THACHER & THOMPSON
THE DATA CONTAINED ON THIS SHEET IS

c 2015 THACHER & THOMPSON ARCHITECTS

C 17004
THOMPSON
MATTHEW

AUGUST 31, 2017
EXPIRATION

LI

CENSED ARCHITECT

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

F I R S T    F L O O R P L A N
SCALE:  1/8”   =   1’ - 0”

GARAGE

LIVING

ENTRY

DINING

KITCHEN TERRACE

PWDPORCH

FAMILY

UP

46-0

15
-0

1-
6

17-0

PROPERTY LINE

4-
0

13
-0

.

.

84-0

.. .

.

.

.

.

.

..

21-0

..1-6

.. 5-0

.

.

.

14
-0

12
-6

.

10
-6

S O U T H    E L E V A T I O N
SCALE:  1/8”   =   1’ - 0”

W E S T    E L E V A T I O N
SCALE:  1/8”   =   1’ - 0”

.

.
10

-0
15

-6

HIGHEST POINT OF 
FINISHED ROOF

SECOND FLOOR

FIRST FLOOR .

COMPOSITION SHINGLE
ROOF

OPEN RAFTERS W/
OGEE GUTTER

10” HORIZONTAL SIDING
PAINTED

TIMBER DETAILING
FOR PORCH WORK

KLINKER BRICK BASE AT
PORCH COLUMNS

CLAD WOOD WINDOWS

.  GRADE

1-
6

E A S T     E L E V A T I O N
SCALE:  1/8”   =   1’ - 0”

N O R T H    E L E V A T I O N
SCALE:  1/8”   =   1’ - 0”

LAUNDRY

DN

M BEDRM

M BATH

BEDRM #1

BEDRM #2
BATH

BEDRM #3 12
-6

12
-6

5-
6

10
-6

.

.

.

.

... 36-6

S E C O N D    F L O O R P L A N
SCALE:  1/8”   =   1’ - 0”

R O O F     P L A N
SCALE:  1/8”   =   1’ - 0”

REV. 11.29.17

6.C.1

Packet Pg. 88

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

1 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 F

u
ll 

P
la

n
 S

et
  (

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

)



R O O F     P L A N
SCALE:  1/8”   =   1’ - 0”

F I R S T    F L O O R P L A N
SCALE:  1/8”   =   1’ - 0”

.

THACHER &
THOMPSON
ARCHITECTS
877 CEDAR STREET SUITE 248

SANTA CRUZ, CA  95060
(831) 457-3939 V
(831) 426-7609 F

www.tntarch.com

HOUSE  2

4201 Capitola
Road -- Three
New Houses

Sam Peterson
14217 Nassau Road
San Leandro, CA 94577

A3

AUGUST 21, 2017

UNAUTHORIZED USE IS PROHIBITED.
LIABILITY TO THE ARCHITECT.
BE THE USER'S RESPONSIBILITY WITHOUT
ELECTRONIC TRANSFER OF DATA SHALL
CONSENT OF THE ARCHITECT.  THE PROPER
REPRODUCED, OR USED WITHOUT THE
SERVICE AND MAY NOT BE ALTERED,
ARCHITECTS.  IT IS AN INSTRUMENT OF
THE PROPERTY OF THACHER & THOMPSON
THE DATA CONTAINED ON THIS SHEET IS

c 2015 THACHER & THOMPSON ARCHITECTS

C 17004
THOMPSON
MATTHEW

AUGUST 31, 2017
EXPIRATION

LI

CENSED ARCHITECT

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

S E C O N D    F L O O R P L A N
SCALE:  1/8”   =   1’ - 0”

S O U T H    E L E V A T I O N
SCALE:  1/8”   =   1’ - 0”

W E S T   E L E V A T I O N
SCALE:  1/8”   =   1’ - 0”

E A S T    E L E V A T I O N
SCALE:  1/8”   =   1’ - 0”

N O R T H    E L E V A T I O N
SCALE:  1/8”   =   1’ - 0”

HIGHEST POINT OF
FINISHED ROOF

SECOND FLOOR
 

FIRST FLOOR

GRADE

  .

  .

  .  .

15
’

10
’

2’

COMPOSITION SHINGLE 
ROOF

OPEN RAFTERS W/
OGEE GUTTER

CEMENT PLASTER WALLS
W/ HEAVY DASHED TEXTURE

CLAD WOOD WINDOWS
W/ 2X6 ROUGH-SAWN 
WOOD HEAD, JAMB, SILL TRIM

MAX.

DINING

FAMILY
GARAGE

LIVING
PORCH

PWD

KITCHEN

ENTRY
LAUNDRY

BATH

PROPERTY LINE

TERRACE

BEDRM #2

BEDRM #3

M BATH

BEDRM #1

M BEDRM

UP

DN

4-
6

. .
.. ..

.

.

.

.

.

.

...... .

..

. .
.

13
-0

13
-6

5-
6

6-09-24-0 17-0 9-10

4-
0

36
-0

14
-0

12
-6

1-
0

17-047-0

84-0

20-0

34-0

5-
6

.

.

. .

.

.

.

.

. ..

34-0

4-0

4-0

5-
6

10
-6

14
-6

REV. 11.29.17

6.C.1

Packet Pg. 89

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

1 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 F

u
ll 

P
la

n
 S

et
  (

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

)



S O U T H    E L E V A T I O N
SCALE:  1/8”   =   1’ - 0”

W E S T   E L E V A T I O N
SCALE:  1/8”   =   1’ - 0”

E A S T    E L E V A T I O N
SCALE:  1/8”   =   1’ - 0”

N O R T H    E L E V A T I O N
SCALE:  1/8”   =   1’ - 0”

  .

THACHER &
THOMPSON
ARCHITECTS
877 CEDAR STREET SUITE 248

SANTA CRUZ, CA  95060
(831) 457-3939 V
(831) 426-7609 F

www.tntarch.com

HOUSE 3

4201 Capitola
Road -- Three
New Houses

Sam Peterson
14217 Nassau Road
San Leandro, CA 94577

A4

AUGUST 21, 2017

UNAUTHORIZED USE IS PROHIBITED.
LIABILITY TO THE ARCHITECT.
BE THE USER'S RESPONSIBILITY WITHOUT
ELECTRONIC TRANSFER OF DATA SHALL
CONSENT OF THE ARCHITECT.  THE PROPER
REPRODUCED, OR USED WITHOUT THE
SERVICE AND MAY NOT BE ALTERED,
ARCHITECTS.  IT IS AN INSTRUMENT OF
THE PROPERTY OF THACHER & THOMPSON
THE DATA CONTAINED ON THIS SHEET IS

c 2015 THACHER & THOMPSON ARCHITECTS

C 17004
THOMPSON
MATTHEW

AUGUST 31, 2017
EXPIRATION

LI

CENSED ARCHITECT

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

.

.

10
-0

15
-6

HIGHEST POINT OF 
FINISHED ROOF

SECOND FLOOR

FIRST FLOOR ..  GRADE

1-
6

COMPOSITION SHINGLE
ROOF

OPEN RAFTERS W/
OGEE GUTTER

CEMENT BD. SHINGLE
SIDING

CLAD WOOD WINDOWS
W/ 2X6 ROUGH-SAWN 
WOOD HEAD, JAMB, SILL TRIM

F I R S T    F L O O R P L A N
SCALE:  1/8”   =   1’ - 0”

S E C O N D    F L O O R P L A N
SCALE:  1/8”   =   1’ - 0”

R O O F     P L A N
SCALE:  1/8”   =   1’ - 0”

DINING

FAMILYGARAGE

LIVINGPORCH
PWD

KITCHEN

ENTRY

LAUNDRY

BATH

PROPERTY LINE

TERRACE

BEDRM #2 BEDRM #3

M BATH

BEDRM #1 M BEDRM

UP

DN

37-6

6-0

5-
6

5-
6

12
-6

12
-6

36
-0

4-
0

13
-0

13
-6

5-
6

14
-0

12
-6

1-
0

4-
6

17-0

6-0

47-0

84-0

20-0

9-25-0 17-0 9-10

. .
.. ..

.

.

.

.

.

..

......
. .

.

.

.

.

.

. .
.

.

.

. .

6.C.1

Packet Pg. 90

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

1 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 F

u
ll 

P
la

n
 S

et
  (

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

)



THACHER &
THOMPSON
ARCHITECTS
877 CEDAR STREET SUITE 248

SANTA CRUZ, CA  95060
(831) 457-3939 V
(831) 426-7609 F

www.tntarch.com

COMPOSITE
STREET
VIEW

4201 Capitola
Road -- Three
New Houses

Sam Peterson
14217 Nassau Road
San Leandro, CA 94577

A5

AUGUST 21, 2017

UNAUTHORIZED USE IS PROHIBITED.
LIABILITY TO THE ARCHITECT.
BE THE USER'S RESPONSIBILITY WITHOUT
ELECTRONIC TRANSFER OF DATA SHALL
CONSENT OF THE ARCHITECT.  THE PROPER
REPRODUCED, OR USED WITHOUT THE
SERVICE AND MAY NOT BE ALTERED,
ARCHITECTS.  IT IS AN INSTRUMENT OF
THE PROPERTY OF THACHER & THOMPSON
THE DATA CONTAINED ON THIS SHEET IS

c 2015 THACHER & THOMPSON ARCHITECTS

C 17004
THOMPSON
MATTHEW

AUGUST 31, 2017
EXPIRATION

LI

CENSED ARCHITECT

STATE OF CALIFORNIA

HOUSE  #1HOUSE  #2HOUSE  #3

C O M P  O S I T E    E L E V A T I O N

C O M P  O S I T E    E L E V A T I O N     WITHOUT EAVES

REV. 11.29.17

6.C.1

Packet Pg. 91

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

1 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 F

u
ll 

P
la

n
 S

et
  (

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

)



6.C.2

Packet Pg. 92

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

2 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 V

ar
ia

n
ce

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 L

et
te

r 
- 

12
.0

2.
20

17
  (

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

)



6.C.2

Packet Pg. 93

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

2 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 V

ar
ia

n
ce

 A
p

p
lic

at
io

n
 L

et
te

r 
- 

12
.0

2.
20

17
  (

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

)



 

 

 
 
 
March 13, 2018 
 
 
Sam Peterson 
Magnolia Tree Investments, Inc. 
39488 Stevenson Pl. #100 
Fremont, CA 94539 
 
SUBJECT: Water Service Application Approval for Minor Land Division at 4201 Capitola 

Road, Capitola, APN 034-121-36 & 37    
 
Dear Mr. Peterson: 
 
In response to the subject application, the Board of Directors of the Soquel Creek Water District 
(SqCWD) at their regular meeting of March 6, 2018 voted to grant you a Will Serve Letter for 
the proposed minor land division development project to be located at 4201 Capitola Road, so 
that you may proceed through the appropriate land use planning entity.   
 
The issuance of this letter corresponds with the completion of the Water Demand Offset (WDO) 
requirement for this project. You have fulfilled the WDO requirement for 0.509 acre-feet, which 
incorporates a 14.6% reduction in demand based on your voluntary commitment to the Go Green 
program.  If the requirement is adjusted to be lower (i.e. additional Go Green measures are agreed 
upon and/or lot has been deed restricted) after the issuance of this letter, then you will receive a 
refund equivalent to the difference in offset.  If it is adjusted to be higher (i.e. building plans are 
changed or Go Green measures are not completed as listed above) you must complete additional 
offsets.  
 
This letter is specifically granted for the project as proposed in regard to uses and densities.  Any 
changes in the project that result in a change in use or an increase in water demand will require an 
application for a modification of this Will Serve Letter. 
 
This Will Serve approval is valid for 4 years from the date of Board approval.  If there is no activity 
to develop the property (i.e. you have not applied for planning/building permits with the land use 
planning agency before the expiration date of this approval), the WDO fees paid will be 
automatically refunded at 90%. All conditions are as outlined in the “New Water Service Applicant 
Agreement” that you signed when applying for new service.  
 
After you have received a building permit from the land use planning agency, you are responsible 
for meeting all applicable SqCWD requirements defined in the attached Requirements Checklist 
before the meter can be installed and service can be activated.   
 
 

6.C.3

Packet Pg. 94

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

3 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 S

o
q

u
el

 C
re

ek
 w

ill
-s

er
ve

-l
et

te
r 

3.
19

.1
8 

 (
42

01
 C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)



Water Service Application – APN 034-121-36 & 37 
March 13, 2018 
Page 2 of 2 
 

 

 
Please note that the District no longer performs the installation of water services, as this is now the 
applicant’s responsibility.  To finalize water service to your project, you will need to hire a pre-
approved contractor to perform the installation and obtain any necessary encroachment permit.  
Additionally, you are required to enter into a written “Applicant Installed Service Agreement” with 
the District which will itemize the required construction inspection deposit associated with your 
contractor installing the water service, meter installation fees, and water capacity fees as 
applicable. Prior to installing a meter, SqCWD Conservation staff will need to perform an on-site 
verification of compliance if you are participating in the Go Green program. Should you have any 
questions about this process or require assistance, please contact Conservation or Engineering staff 
at (831) 475-8500. 
 
The Board of the SqCWD also reserves the right to adopt additional policies to mitigate the impact 
of new development on the local groundwater basins, which are currently the District’s only source 
of supply.  Such actions would be in response to concerns about existing conditions that threaten 
the groundwater basins and the lack of a supplemental supply source that would restore and 
maintain the aquifers.  The subject project would be required to comply with any applicable 
conditions of service that the District may adopt prior to finalizing water service.  As new policies 
and/or requirements are developed, the information will be made available by the SqCWD. 
 
Sincerely, 
SOQUEL CREEK WATER DISTRICT 
 
 
 
 
Taj A. Dufour, P.E. 
Engineering Manager/Chief Engineer 
 
Attachment:  Requirements Checklist for APN 034-121-36 & 37 
 
Enclosures - Yellow (for Commercial, Industrial and Public Development): 

1. Overview of the SqCWD Water Use Efficiency Requirements for Tier II Single Family 
Residential, Multi-Family Residential, Commercial, Industrial & Public Development 

2. Indoor Water Use Efficiency Checklist 
3. Landscape Project Application Submittal Requirements Package 

 
 

6.C.3

Packet Pg. 95

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

3 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 S

o
q

u
el

 C
re

ek
 w

ill
-s

er
ve

-l
et

te
r 

3.
19

.1
8 

 (
42

01
 C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)



   

 

Requirements Checklist for APN 034-121-36 & 37   Magnolia Tree Investments 
 Required Not 

Required 
 
Comments 

Engineering:    
Record Water Waiver (required if water pressure is 
not between 40 psi – 80 psi) with the County Recorder 
of the County of Santa Cruz to ensure that any future 
property owners are notified of the conditions set forth 
herein 

 x  

Variance request for property not having frontage on a 
water main 

 x  

New water main to site (required if existing water 
main not sized to serve new project) 

 x  

LAFCO annexation  x  
Off-site water main extension  x  
On-site water system  x  
Backflow prevention x   
New water storage tank  x  
Booster pump station  x  
Destroy any wells on the property in accordance with 
State Bulletin No. 74 

x   

Satisfy all conditions imposed by the District to assure 
necessary water pressure, flow and quality 

x   

Meter all units individually with a minimum size of 
5/8-inch by 3/4-inch standard domestic water meter, 
except as required by law 

x   

Complete fire service requirements form x   
Sign Service Installation Agreement & pay all fees x   
Conservation:    
Complete Indoor Water Use Efficiency Checklist  x   
Complete Landscape Project Application Submittal 
Requirements Package 

x   

Complete Commercial Green Credit Application   x Recommended 
General:    
Allow SqCWD Staff to inspect the completed project for 
compliance with all the applicable project 
requirements prior to commencing domestic water 
service 

x   

Other requirements that may be added as a result of 
policy changes: 
 

x   

 

6.C.3

Packet Pg. 96

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

3 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 S

o
q

u
el

 C
re

ek
 w

ill
-s

er
ve

-l
et

te
r 

3.
19

.1
8 

 (
42

01
 C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)



6.C.4

Packet Pg. 97

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

4 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 A

rb
o

ri
st

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
42

01
 C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)



6.C.4

Packet Pg. 98

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

4 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 A

rb
o

ri
st

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
42

01
 C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)



6.C.4

Packet Pg. 99

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

4 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 A

rb
o

ri
st

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
42

01
 C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)



6.C.4

Packet Pg. 100

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

4 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 A

rb
o

ri
st

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
42

01
 C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)



6.C.4

Packet Pg. 101

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

4 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 A

rb
o

ri
st

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
42

01
 C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)



6.C.4

Packet Pg. 102

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

4 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 A

rb
o

ri
st

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
42

01
 C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)



6.C.4

Packet Pg. 103

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

4 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 A

rb
o

ri
st

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
42

01
 C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)



6.C.4

Packet Pg. 104

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

4 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 A

rb
o

ri
st

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
42

01
 C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)



6.C.4

Packet Pg. 105

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

4 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 A

rb
o

ri
st

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
42

01
 C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)



6.C.4

Packet Pg. 106

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

4 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 A

rb
o

ri
st

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
42

01
 C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)



6.C.4

Packet Pg. 107

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

4 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 A

rb
o

ri
st

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
42

01
 C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)



6.C.4

Packet Pg. 108

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

4 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 A

rb
o

ri
st

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
42

01
 C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)



6.C.4

Packet Pg. 109

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

4 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 A

rb
o

ri
st

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
42

01
 C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)



6.C.4

Packet Pg. 110

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

4 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 A

rb
o

ri
st

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
42

01
 C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)



6.C.4

Packet Pg. 111

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

4 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 A

rb
o

ri
st

 R
ep

o
rt

  (
42

01
 C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)



Zoning Summary – 4201 Capitola Road 

 

House #1 

 

 

House #2 

 

Development Standards 

CN Height Regulation Proposed Height 

27 ft. 27 ft. 

Yards 

 CN Regulation Proposed 

Front Yard  15 ft. 20 ft. 

Side Yard 

Lot width: 36 

  

First story: 

10% lot width 

 

Second Story: 

15% lot width 

First story (10%): 3 ft. 

6 in. min. 

 

Second story (15%): 5 

ft. 5 in. min. 

First story: 2 ft. 6 in. (north 

side), 3 ft. 0 in. (south 

side). Does not comply. 

Second story: 3 ft. 0 in. 

(north & south). Does not 

comply. 

Rear Yard  20% lot depth Lot depth: 84  

16 ft. 10 in. min. 

17 ft. 

Parking 

 Required Proposed 

Residential (2,601 to 

4,000 sq. ft.) 

2 spaces total - 1 covered, 1 uncovered 2 spaces total - 1 covered, 

1 uncovered 

Underground Utilities: required with 25% increase in area Required 

 

 

Development Standards 

CN Height Regulation Proposed Height 

27 ft. 27 ft. 

Yards 

 CN Regulation Proposed 

Front Yard  15 ft. 19 ft. 

Side Yard  

Lot width: 41 ft. 

 

First story: 

10% lot width 

Second Story: 

15% lot width 

First story (10%): 4 ft. 

min. 

Second story (15%): 6 

ft. 2 in. min. 

First story: 2 ft 7 in. (north 

side). Does not comply. 

Second story: 4 ft. (north 

side). Does not comply. 

Rear Yard  20% lot depth Lot depth: 84  

16 ft. 10 in. min. 

17 ft. 

Parking 

 Required Proposed 

Residential (2,601 to 

4,000 sq. ft.) 

2 spaces total - 1 covered, 1 uncovered 2 spaces total - 1 

covered, 1 uncovered 

Underground Utilities: required with 25% increase in area Required 

6.C.5

Packet Pg. 112

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

5 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 Z

o
n

in
g

 S
u

m
m

ar
y 

- 
3 

H
o

u
se

s 
 (

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

)



House #3 

 

Development Standards 

CN Height Regulation Proposed Height 

27 ft. 27 ft. 

Yards 

 CN Regulation Proposed 

Front Yard  15 ft. 20 ft. 

Side Yard 

Lot width: 36 

  

First story: 

10% lot width 

 

Second Story: 

15% lot width 

First story (10%): 3 ft. 

6 in. min. 

 

Second story (15%): 5 

ft. 5 in. min. 

First story: 2 ft. 8 in. (north 

side), 4 ft. 0 in. (south 

side). Does not comply. 

Second story: 4 ft. 0 in. 

(north), 3 ft. 6 in. (south). 

Does not comply. 

Rear Yard  20% lot depth Lot depth: 84  

16 ft. 10 in. min. 

17 ft. 

Parking 

 Required Proposed 

Residential (2,601 to 

4,000 sq. ft.) 

2 spaces total - 1 covered, 1 uncovered 2 spaces total - 1 covered, 

1 uncovered 

Underground Utilities: required with 25% increase in area Required 

 

6.C.5

Packet Pg. 113

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

5 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 Z

o
n

in
g

 S
u

m
m

ar
y 

- 
3 

H
o

u
se

s 
 (

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

)



CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1. The project approval consists of a design permit for three new single-family homes, 

including demolition of one existing home, and a tentative parcel map for a three-lot 
subdivision located at 4201 Capitola Road.  The proposed project is approved as 
indicated on the final plans reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission on April 
5, 2018, except as modified through conditions imposed by the Planning Commission 
during the hearing. 
 

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or 
modifications to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be 
consistent with the plans approved by the Planning Commission.  All construction and 
site improvements shall be completed according to the approved plans 
 

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be 
printed in full on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  
 

4. At time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail SMP STRM 
shall be printed in full and incorporated as a sheet into the construction plans.  All 
construction shall be done in accordance with the Public Works Standard Detail BMP 
STRM.   

 
5. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically 

requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any 
significant changes to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require 
Planning Commission approval.   
 

6. Prior to issuance of building permit, a final landscape plan shall be submitted and 
approved by the Community Development Department.  Landscape plans shall reflect 
the Planning Commission approval and shall identify type, size, and location of species 
and details of irrigation systems.   

 
7. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #17-0441 

shall be paid in full. 
 

8. Prior to issuance of building permit, Affordable housing in-lieu fees shall be paid as 
required to assure compliance with the City of Capitola Affordable (Inclusionary) Housing 
Ordinance.   
 

9. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan 
approval by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel 
Creek Water District, and Central Fire Protection District.   
 

10. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion 
control plan (BMPs), shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works.  The 
plans shall be in compliance with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code 
Chapter 13.16.100 Construction Site Storm Water Runoff Control.  All improvements 
shall be installed prior to the start of construction and shall be maintained throughout 
project duration. 
 

11. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater 
management plan to the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which complies with 

6.C.6

Packet Pg. 114

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

6 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 D

ra
ft

 C
o

n
d

it
io

n
s 

o
f 

A
p

p
ro

va
l  

(4
20

1 
C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)



CMC 13.16.0900 Post Construction Stormwater Management and implements all 
applicable Post Construction Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard Details, 
including all standards relating to low impact development (LID). 
 

12. Applicant shall notify the Public Works Department 24 hours in advance of the 
commencement of work.  A pre-construction inspection must be conducted by the 
grading official, or appointed staff to verify compliance with the approved erosion and 
sediment control plan.  
 

13. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired 
by the contractor performing the work.  No material or equipment storage may be placed 
in the road right-of-way. 
 

14. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise 
curfew, except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City.  
Construction noise shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty 
a.m. on weekdays. Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the 
exception of Saturday work between nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work 
approved by the building official. §9.12.010B 

 
15. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches, curb, gutter, or 

sidewalk shall be replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction 
of the Public Works Department.  Any existing unused driveway approach shall be 
demolished and replaced with curb, gutter and sidewalk.  All replaced driveway 
approaches, curb, gutter or sidewalk shall meet current Accessibility Standards. 

   
16. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the applicant shall demonstrate 

compliance with the tree removal permit authorized by this permit for 3 trees to be 
removed from the property.  Replacement trees shall be planted at a 2:1 ratio. Required 
replacement trees shall be of the same size, species, and planted on the site as shown 
on the approved plans.  
    

17. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of 
approval shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development 
Director.  Upon evidence of non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable 
municipal code provisions, the applicant shall remedy the non-compliance to the 
satisfaction of the Community Development Director or shall file an application for a 
permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure to remedy a non-
compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation. 
 

18. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance.  The applicant shall have 
an approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent 
permit expiration.   Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to 
expiration pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 
 

19. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the 
applicant to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the 
site on which the approval was granted. 
 

6.C.6

Packet Pg. 115

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

6 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 D

ra
ft

 C
o

n
d

it
io

n
s 

o
f 

A
p

p
ro

va
l  

(4
20

1 
C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)



20. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be 
placed out of public view on non-collection days.  
 

21. Prior to issuance of building permits, the building plans must show that the existing 

overhead utility lines will be underground to the nearest utility pole.   

 

22. The Applicant shall prepare and submit a parcel map showing the original parcel and the 

parcels being created by the resubdivision with pertinent supporting data.  Said map 

shall be filed with the Public Works Department with the appropriate review fees for 

review.  Said parcel map shall be prepared by a licensed land surveyor who shall be 

responsible for responding to comments until the map is acceptable to the Department 

of Public Works. 

 

23. All plans and profiles of improvements shall be approved by the Director of Public Works 
prior to the filing of the final map, and the construction of said improvements shall be in 
accordance with the City Specifications and shall be inspected by the Director of Public 
Works or his authorized agent, subject to fees appropriate for the services. 

 
24. Prior to final recording of the final parcel map, either all street and utility improvements, 

as required by the Public Works Department (i.e. curbs, gutters, sidewalks, paving, etc.) 
shall be completed or a bond shall be posted with the Public Works Department to 
secure construction of such street and utility improvements.   

 
25. Prior to the recordation of the parcel map, the applicant shall submit new legal 

descriptions for the three lots for review by the Community Development Director. 
 

26. Available and necessary utilities, including CATV hookup facilities, with connections to 
each lot within the subdivision, shall be constructed in accordance with the utility’s 
requirements. All utilities shall be underground. 

 
27. During construction, applicant shall follow the required procedures for tree protection in 

the Tree Resource Analysis/Construction Impact Assessment/Tree Protection Plan by 
James P. Allen & Associates, including: tree protection structures, demolition, backhoe 
operating requirements, site stabilization, preconstruction root exploration, 
preconstruction root pruning, necessary tree removal, tree canopy clearance pruning, 
required tree replacement, and supplemental irrigation.  Also, to ensure the survivability 
and proper growth of replacement trees, applicant shall implement the success criteria 
found in the maintenance and monitoring program criteria section: 

a. A qualified professional will monitor the newly planted trees at one (1) month 
intervals for the first year of growth and every 3 months thereafter for an 
additional 4-year period 

b. Tree health and growth rates will be assessed 
c. Trees suffering poor growth rates or declining health will be identified 
d. Invigoration treatments will be provided 
e. Dead trees or trees in an irreversible state of decline will be replaced 
f. At the end of the five-year period the status of the new plantings will be assessed 

to make certain that success criteria have been met and all replacement trees 
planted are performing well 

 

6.C.6

Packet Pg. 116

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

6 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 D

ra
ft

 C
o

n
d

it
io

n
s 

o
f 

A
p

p
ro

va
l  

(4
20

1 
C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)



FINDINGS 
A. The project, subject to the conditions imposed, secures the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 

Planning Commission have all reviewed the project. The proposed design permit for 

three new single-family homes, including demolition of one existing home, and a 

tentative parcel map for a three-lot subdivision comply with the development standards 

of the CN (Neighborhood Commercial) District.  The project secures the purpose of the 

Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan 

 

B. The project will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 

Planning Commission have all reviewed the application for the design permit for three new 

single-family homes, including demolition of one existing home, and tentative parcel map 

for a three-lot subdivision.  The design of the homes, with three different siding types, open 

rafters in the eaves, timber detailing for porch work, klinker brick bases on the porch 

columns, and clad wood windows, will fit in nicely with the existing neighborhood. The 

project will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood.   

 

C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15303(a) of the California    
Environmental Quality Act and is subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 
Section 15303(a) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts one single-family residence, or a 

second dwelling unit in a residential zone, and in urbanized areas, up to three single-

family residences may be constructed under this exemption. This project involves a 

design permit for three new single-family homes, including demolition of one existing 

home, and a tentative parcel map for a three-lot subdivision within the CN 

(Neighborhood Commercial) zoning district. No adverse environmental impacts were 

discovered during review of the proposed project.  

 
 
COASTAL FINDINGS 

D. Findings Required.  

1. A coastal permit shall be granted only upon adoption of specific written factual 
findings supporting the conclusion that the proposed development conforms to 
the certified Local Coastal Program, including, but not limited to: 

a. A statement of the individual and cumulative burdens imposed on public 
access and recreation opportunities based on applicable factors identified 
pursuant to subsection (D)(2) of this section. The type of affected public 
access and recreation opportunities shall be clearly described; 

b. An analysis based on applicable factors identified in subsection (D)(2) of this 
section of the necessity for requiring public access conditions to find the 
project consistent with the public access provisions of the Coastal Act; 

c. A description of the legitimate governmental interest furthered by any access 
conditioned required; 

d. An explanation of how imposition of an access dedication requirement 
alleviates the access burdens identified. 

6.C.6

Packet Pg. 117

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

6 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 D

ra
ft

 C
o

n
d

it
io

n
s 

o
f 

A
p

p
ro

va
l  

(4
20

1 
C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)



 

• The proposed development conforms to the City’s certified Local 
Coastal Plan (LCP).  The specific, factual findings, as per CMC Section 
17.46.090(D) are as follows: 

 
2. Require Project-Specific Findings. In determining any requirement for public 

access, including the type of access and character of use, the city shall 
evaluate and document in written findings the factors identified in subsections 
(D)(2)(a) through (e), to the extent applicable. The findings shall explain the 
basis for the conclusions and decisions of the city and shall be supported by 
substantial evidence in the record. If an access dedication is required as a 
condition of approval, the findings shall explain how the adverse effects which 
have been identified will be alleviated or mitigated by the dedication. As used in 
this section, “cumulative effect” means the effect of the individual project in 
combination with the effects of past projects, other current projects, and 
probable future projects, including development allowed under applicable 
planning and zoning. 

a. Project Effects on Demand for Access and Recreation. Identification of 
existing and open public access and coastal recreation areas and facilities in 
the regional and local vicinity of the development. Analysis of the project’s 
effects upon existing public access and recreation opportunities. Analysis of 
the project’s cumulative effects upon the use and capacity of the identified 
access and recreation opportunities, including public tidelands and beach 
resources, and upon the capacity of major coastal roads from subdivision, 
intensification or cumulative buildout. Projection for the anticipated demand 
and need for increased coastal access and recreation opportunities for the 
public. Analysis of the contribution of the project’s cumulative effects to any 
such projected increase. Description of the physical characteristics of the site 
and its proximity to the sea, tideland viewing points, upland recreation areas, 
and trail linkages to tidelands or recreation areas. Analysis of the importance 
and potential of the site, because of its location or other characteristics, for 
creating, preserving or enhancing public access to tidelands or public 
recreation opportunities; 

 

• The proposed project is located at 4201 Capitola Road.  The homes 
are not located in an area with coastal access.  The homes will not 
have an effect on public trails or beach access. 

 
b. Shoreline Processes. Description of the existing shoreline conditions, 

including beach profile, accessibility and usability of the beach, history of 
erosion or accretion, character and sources of sand, wave and sand 
movement, presence of shoreline protective structures, location of the line of 
mean high tide during the season when the beach is at its narrowest 
(generally during the late winter) and the proximity of that line to 
existing structures, and any other factors which substantially characterize or 
affect the shoreline processes at the site. Identification of anticipated changes 
to shoreline processes at the site. Identification of anticipated changes to 
shoreline processes and beach profile unrelated to the proposed 
development. Description and analysis of any reasonably likely changes, 
attributable to the primary and cumulative effects of the project, to: wave and 
sand movement affecting beaches in the vicinity of the project; the profile of 

6.C.6

Packet Pg. 118

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

6 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 D

ra
ft

 C
o

n
d

it
io

n
s 

o
f 

A
p

p
ro

va
l  

(4
20

1 
C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.650
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.650


the beach; the character, extent, accessibility and usability of the beach; and 
any other factors which characterize or affect beaches in the vicinity. Analysis 
of the effect of any identified changes of the project, alone or in combination 
with other anticipated changes, will have upon the ability of the public 
to use public tidelands and shoreline recreation areas; 

 

• The proposed project is located along Capitola Road and 42nd Avenue.  
No portion of the project is located along the shoreline or beach. 

 
c. Historic Public Use. Evidence of use of the site by members of the general 

public for a continuous five-year period (such use may be seasonal). Evidence 
of the type and character of use made by the public (vertical, lateral, blufftop, 
etc., and for passive and/or active recreational use, etc.). Identification of 
any agency (or person) who has maintained and/or improved the area subject 
to historic public use and the nature of the maintenance performed and 
improvements made. Identification of the record owner of the area historically 
used by the public and any attempts by the owner to prohibit public use of the 
area, including the success or failure of those attempts. Description of the 
potential for adverse impact on public use of the area from the proposed 
development (including but not limited to, creation of physical or psychological 
impediments to public use); 

 

• There is not a history of public use on the subject lot. 
 

d. Physical Obstructions. Description of any physical aspects of the development 
which block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along the tidelands, 
public recreation areas, or other public coastal resources or to see the 
shoreline; 

 

• The proposed project is located on private property on Capitola Road.  
The project will not block or impede the ability of the public to get to or 
along the tidelands, public recreation areas, or views to the shoreline. 

 
e. Other Adverse Impacts on Access and Recreation. Description of the 

development’s physical proximity and relationship to the shoreline and any 
public recreation area. Analysis of the extent of which buildings, walls, 
signs, streets or other aspects of the development, individually or 
cumulatively, are likely to diminish the public’s use of tidelands or lands 
committed to public recreation. Description of any alteration of the aesthetic, 
visual or recreational value of public use areas, and of any diminution of the 
quality or amount of recreational use of public lands which may be attributable 
to the individual or cumulative effects of the development. 

 

• The proposed project is located on private property that will not impact 
access and recreation.  The project does not diminish the public’s use 
of tidelands or lands committed to public recreation nor alter the 
aesthetic, visual, or recreational value of public use areas. 

 
3. Required Findings for Public Access Exceptions. Any determination that one of 

the exceptions of subsection (F)(2) applies to a development shall be supported 

6.C.6

Packet Pg. 119

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

6 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 D

ra
ft

 C
o

n
d

it
io

n
s 

o
f 

A
p

p
ro

va
l  

(4
20

1 
C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.050
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.090
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.110
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.620
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690


by written findings of fact, analysis and conclusions which address all of the 
following: 

a. The type of access potentially applicable to the site involved (vertical, 
lateral, bluff top, etc.) and its location in relation to the fragile coastal resource 
to be protected, the agricultural use, the public safety concern, or the military 
facility which is the basis for the exception, as applicable; 

b. Unavailability of any mitigating measures to manage the type, character, 
intensity, hours, season or location of such use so that agricultural resources, 
fragile coastal resources, public safety, or military security, as applicable, are 
protected; 

c. Ability of the public, through another reasonable means, to reach the same 
area of public tidelands as would be made accessible by an accessway on the 
subject land. 

 

• The project is not requesting a Public Access Exception, therefore 
these findings do not apply. 

 
4. Findings for Management Plan Conditions. Written findings in support of a 

condition requiring a management plan for regulating the time and manner or 
character of public access use must address the following factors, as 
applicable: 

a. Identification and protection of specific habitat values including the reasons 
supporting the conclusions that such values must be protected by limiting the 
hours, seasons, or character of public use; 

 

• The project is located in a commercial/residential area without 
sensitive habitat areas. 

 
b. Topographic constraints of the development site; 

 

• The project is located on a flat lot. 
 

c. Recreational needs of the public; 
 

• The project does not impact the recreational needs of the public. 
 

d. Rights of privacy of the landowner which could not be mitigated by setting the 
project back from the access way or otherwise conditioning the development; 

e. The requirements of the possible accepting agency, if an offer of dedication is 
the mechanism for securing public access; 

f. Feasibility of adequate setbacks, fencing, landscaping, and other methods as 
part of a management plan to regulate public use. 

 
5. Project complies with public access requirements, including submittal of 

appropriate legal documents to ensure the right of public access whenever, 
and as, required by the certified land use plan and Section 17.46.010 (coastal 
access requirements); 

 

• No legal documents to ensure public access rights are required for the 
proposed project. 

6.C.6

Packet Pg. 120

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

6 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 D

ra
ft

 C
o

n
d

it
io

n
s 

o
f 

A
p

p
ro

va
l  

(4
20

1 
C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.093
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.050
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/html/Capitola17/Capitola1746.html#17.46.010


 
6. Project complies with visitor-serving and recreational use policies; 

 
SEC. 30222 
The use of private lands suitable for visitor-serving commercial recreational 
facilities designed to enhance public opportunities for coastal recreation shall 
have priority over private residential, general industrial, or general commercial 
development, but not over agriculture or coastal-dependent industry. 

 

• The project involves single-family homes on residential lots of record. 
 

SEC. 30223 
Upland areas necessary to support coastal recreational uses shall be reserved 
for such uses, where feasible. 
 

• The project involves single-family homes on residential lots of record. 
 
c) Visitor-serving facilities that cannot be feasibly located in existing developed 
areas shall be located in existing isolated developments or at selected points of 
attraction for visitors. 
 

• The project involves single-family homes on residential lots of record. 
 
7. Project complies with applicable standards and requirements for provision of 

public and private parking, pedestrian access, alternate means of 
transportation and/or traffic improvements; 

 

• The project involves the construction of three single-family homes. The 
project complies with applicable standards and requirements for 
provision for parking, pedestrian access, alternate means of 
transportation, and/or traffic improvements. 

 
8. Review of project design, site plan, signing, lighting, landscaping, etc., by the 

city’s architectural and site review committee, and compliance with adopted 
design guidelines and standards, and review committee recommendations; 

 

• The project complies with the design guidelines and standards 
established by the Municipal Code. 

 
9. Project complies with LCP policies regarding protection of public landmarks, 

protection or provision of public views; and shall not block or detract from 
public views to and along Capitola’s shoreline; 

 

• The project will not negatively impact public landmarks and/or public 
views. The project will not block or detract from public views to and 
along Capitola’s shoreline. 

 
10. Demonstrated availability and adequacy of water and sewer services; 

 

6.C.6

Packet Pg. 121

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

6 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 D

ra
ft

 C
o

n
d

it
io

n
s 

o
f 

A
p

p
ro

va
l  

(4
20

1 
C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.090


• The project is located on legal lots of record with available water and 
sewer services. 

 
11. Provisions of minimum water flow rates and fire response times; 

 

• The project is located a short distance from the Capitola Fire 
Department. Water is available at the location. 

 
12. Project complies with water and energy conservation standards; 

 

• The project is for three single-family homes. The GHG emissions for 
the project are projected at less than significant impact. All water 
fixtures must comply with the low-flow standards of the Soquel Creek 
Water District. 

 
13. Provision of park dedication, school impact, and other fees as may be required; 

 

• The project will be required to pay appropriate fees prior to building 
permit issuance. 

 
14. Project complies with coastal housing policies, and applicable ordinances 

including condominium conversion and mobile home ordinances; 
 

• The project does not involve a condo conversion or mobile homes. 
 
15. Project complies with natural resource, habitat, and archaeological protection 

policies; 
 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with 
established policies. 

 
16. Project complies with Monarch butterfly habitat protection policies; 

 

• The project is outside of any identified sensitive habitats, specifically 
areas where Monarch Butterflies have been encountered, identified 
and documented. 

 
17. Project provides drainage and erosion and control measures to protect marine, 

stream, and wetland water quality from urban runoff and erosion; 
 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with 
applicable erosion control measures. 

 
18. Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified professional for 

projects in seismic areas, geologically unstable areas, or coastal bluffs, and 
project complies with hazard protection policies including provision of 
appropriate setbacks and mitigation measures; 

 

• The project is not in a seismic area, geologically unstable area, or 
coastal bluffs.  Conditions of approval have been included to ensure 

6.C.6

Packet Pg. 122

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

6 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 D

ra
ft

 C
o

n
d

it
io

n
s 

o
f 

A
p

p
ro

va
l  

(4
20

1 
C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.093


the project applicant shall comply with all applicable requirements of 
the most recent version of the California Building Standards Code. 

 
19. All other geological, flood and fire hazards are accounted for and mitigated in 

the project design; 
 

• Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project 
complies with geological, flood, and fire hazards and are accounted for 
and will be mitigated in the project design. 

 
20. Project complies with shoreline structure policies; 

 

• The proposed project is not located along a shoreline. 
 
21. The uses proposed are consistent with the permitted or conditional uses of the 

zoning district in which the project is located; 
 

• This use is an allowed use consistent with the Neighborhood 
Commercial zoning district. 

 
22. Conformance to requirements of all other city ordinances, zoning requirements, 

and project review procedures; and 
 

• The project conforms to the requirements of all city ordinances, zoning 
requirements, and project development review and development 
procedures. 

 
23. Project complies with the Capitola parking permit program as follows: 

a. The village area preferential parking program areas and conditions as 
established in Resolution No. 2596 and no permit parking of any kind shall be 
allowed on Capitola Avenue. 

b. The neighborhood preferential parking program areas are as established in 
Resolution Numbers 2433 and 2510. 

c. The village area preferential parking program shall be limited to three hundred 
fifty permits. 

d. Neighborhood permit areas are only in force when the shuttle bus is operating 
except that: 

i. The Fanmar area (Resolution No. 2436) program may operate year-
round, twenty-four hours a day on weekends, 

ii. The Burlingame, Cliff Avenue/Grand Avenue area (Resolution No. 
2435) have year-round, twenty-four hour per day “no public parking.” 

e. Except as specifically allowed under the village parking program, no 
preferential residential parking may be allowed in the Cliff Drive parking areas. 

f. Six Depot Hill twenty-four minute “Vista” parking spaces (Resolution No. 2510) 
shall be provided as corrected in Exhibit A attached to the ordinance codified 
in this section and found on file in the office of the city clerk. 

g. A limit of fifty permits for the Pacific Cove parking lot may be issued to village 
permit holders and transient occupancy permit holders. 

h. No additional development in the village that intensifies use and requires 
additional parking shall be permitted. Changes in use that do not result in 

6.C.6

Packet Pg. 123

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

6 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 D

ra
ft

 C
o

n
d

it
io

n
s 

o
f 

A
p

p
ro

va
l  

(4
20

1 
C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.650
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.520
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.510
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690
http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690


additional parking demand can be allowed and exceptions for onsite parking 
as allowed in the land use plan can be made. 

 

• The project site is not located within the area of the Capitola parking 
permit program. 

 

6.C.6

Packet Pg. 124

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 A

tt
ac

h
m

en
t 

6 
- 

42
01

 C
ap

it
o

la
 R

o
ad

 -
 D

ra
ft

 C
o

n
d

it
io

n
s 

o
f 

A
p

p
ro

va
l  

(4
20

1 
C

ap
it

o
la

 R
o

ad
)

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.690

	Agenda Packet
	1. Roll Call and Pledge of Allegiance
	2. New Business
	3. Oral Communications
	A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda
	B. Public Comments
	C. Commission Comments
	D. Staff Comments

	4. Approval of Minutes
	A. Approval of draft March 1, 2018, Planning Commission minutes
	1. Minutes of Mar 1, 2018 7:00 PM
	Printout: Minutes of Mar 1, 2018 7:00 PM



	5. Consent Calendar
	A. 110 Hollister Ave
	Printout: 110 Hollister Ave
	1. 110 Hollister Plans


	6. Public Hearings
	A. 1098 38th Avenue
	Printout: 1098 38th Avenue
	1. 1098 38th Avenue Plans
	2. Staff Recommendation
	3. Shangri-La Estates Public Input

	B. 1725 48th Avenue
	Printout: 1725 48th Avenue
	1. Attachment 1 - 1725 48th Ave - Full Plan Set - Letter
	2. Attachment 2 - 1725 48th Ave - Historic Report
	3. Attachment 3 - 48th Ave - 1725 - Preservation Plan Proposal

	C. 4201 Capitola Road
	Printout: 4201 Capitola Road
	1. Attachment 1 - 4201 Capitola Road - Full Plan Set
	2. Attachment 2 - 4201 Capitola Road - Variance Application Letter - 12.02.2017
	3. Attachment 3 - 4201 Capitola Road - Soquel Creek will-serve-letter 3.19.18
	4. Attachment 4 - 4201 Capitola Road - Arborist Report
	5. Attachment 5 - 4201 Capitola Road - Zoning Summary - 3 Houses
	6. Attachment 6 - 4201 Capitola Road - Draft Conditions of Approval


	7. Director's Report
	8. Commission Communications
	9. Adjournment

	Appendix
	4.A.1 · Minutes of Mar 1, 2018 7:00 PM
	5.A · 110 Hollister Ave
	5.A.1 · 110 Hollister Plans

	6.A · 1098 38th Avenue
	6.A.1 · 1098 38th Avenue Plans
	6.A.2 · Staff Recommendation
	6.A.3 · Shangri-La Estates Public Input

	6.B · 1725 48th Avenue
	6.B.1 · Attachment 1 - 1725 48th Ave - Full Plan Set - Letter
	6.B.2 · Attachment 2 - 1725 48th Ave - Historic Report
	6.B.3 · Attachment 3 - 48th Ave - 1725 - Preservation Plan Proposal

	6.C · 4201 Capitola Road
	6.C.1 · Attachment 1 - 4201 Capitola Road - Full Plan Set
	6.C.2 · Attachment 2 - 4201 Capitola Road - Variance Application Letter - 12.02.2017
	6.C.3 · Attachment 3 - 4201 Capitola Road - Soquel Creek will-serve-letter 3.19.18
	6.C.4 · Attachment 4 - 4201 Capitola Road - Arborist Report
	6.C.5 · Attachment 5 - 4201 Capitola Road - Zoning Summary - 3 Houses
	6.C.6 · Attachment 6 - 4201 Capitola Road - Draft Conditions of Approval



